
 

Lloyd White 

Head of Democratic Services 

London Borough of Hillingdon, 

Phase II, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW 

 

Putting our residents first 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CABINET 

  

 
 

To all Members of the Cabinet: 
 
Ian Edwards, Leader of the Council 
(Chair) 

Jonathan Bianco, Deputy Leader of the 
Council & Cabinet Member for Property, 
Highways & Transport (Vice-Chair) 

Martin Goddard, Cabinet Member for 
Finance 

Douglas Mills, Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services 

Susan O'Brien, Cabinet Member for 
Children, Families & Education 

Jane Palmer, Cabinet Member for Health 
& Social Care 

Eddie Lavery, Cabinet Member for 
Residents' Services 

 

 
 

   

Date: THURSDAY, 25 JULY 2024 
 

 

Time: 7.00 PM 
 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 6 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE UB8 
1UW 
 

Meeting 
Details: 

The public and press are welcome 
to attend and observe the meeting.  

 
For safety and accessibility, security measures will 
be conducted, including searches of individuals and 
their belongings. Attendees must also provide 
satisfactory proof of identity upon arrival. Refusal to 
comply with these requirements will result in non-
admittance. 
 
This meeting may be broadcast on the Council’s 
YouTube channel. You can also view this agenda 
online at www.hillingdon.gov.uk 

 

 Published:  
Wednesday, 17 July 2024 

 Contact: 
Mark Braddock 
Tel: 01895 250470 
Email: mbraddock@hillingdon.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


 

 

Useful information for  
residents and visitors 
 

Watching & recording this meeting 
 
You can watch the public part of this meeting on 
the Council's YouTube channel, live or archived 
after the meeting. Residents and the media are 
also welcome to attend in person, and if they 
wish, report on the public part of the meeting. 
Any individual or organisation may record or film 
proceedings as long as it does not disrupt 
proceedings.  
 
It is recommended to give advance notice of filming to ensure any particular requirements can be 
met. The Council will provide seating areas for residents/public, high speed WiFi access to all 
attending and an area for the media to report. The officer shown on the front of this agenda should 
be contacted for further information and will be available to assist. When present in the room, silent 
mode should be enabled for all mobile devices. 

 
Travel and parking 
 
Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services.  
 
Please enter via main reception and visit the 
security desk to sign-in and collect a visitors 
pass. You will then be directed to the Committee 
Room. 
 

Accessibility 
 
For accessibility options regarding this agenda 
please contact Democratic Services.  For those 
hard of hearing an Induction Loop System is 
available for use.  
 

Emergency procedures 
 
If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous 
alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest 
FIRE EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre 
forecourt.  
 
Lifts must not be used unless instructed by a Fire Marshal or Security Officer. In the event of 
a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued via the tannoy, a Fire Marshal or a Security 
Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, should make their way to the signed refuge 
locations. 

 

 



 

 

Notice 
 
Notice of meeting and any private business 
 
The London Borough of Hillingdon is a modern, transparent Council and through effective Cabinet 
governance, it seeks to ensure the decisions it takes are done so in public as far as possible. Much 
of the business on the agenda for this Cabinet meeting will be open to residents, the wider public 
and media to attend. However, there will be some business to be considered that contains, for 
example, confidential, commercially sensitive or personal information. Such business is shown in 
Part 2 of the agenda and is considered in private. Further information on why this is the case can 
be sought from Democratic Services. 
 
This is formal notice under The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 to confirm that the Cabinet meeting to be held on: 
 

25 July 2024 at 7pm in Committee Room 6, Civic Centre, Uxbridge 
 
will be held partly in private and that 28 clear days public notice of this meeting has been given. 
The reason for this is because the private (Part 2) reports listed on the agenda for the meeting will 
contain exempt information under Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) and that the public interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing it. An online and a hard copy notice at the Civic Centre in Uxbridge indicates a number 
associated with each report with the reason why a particular decision will be taken in private under 
the categories set out below: 
 

(1)  information relating to any individual 
(2)  information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual 
(3)  information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 

the authority holding that information) 
(4)  information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or 

negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter arising between the authority or 
a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

(5)  Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in 
legal proceedings. 

(6) Information which reveals that the authority proposes  (a) to give under any enactment a 
notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or (b) to make an 
order or direction under any enactment. 

(7)  Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, 
investigation or prosecution of crime. 

 
Notice of any urgent business 
 
To ensure greater transparency in decision-making, 28 clear days public notice of the decisions to 
be made both in public and private has been given for these agenda items. Any exceptions to this 
rule are the urgent business items on the agenda marked *. For such items it was impracticable to 
give sufficient notice for a variety of business and service reasons. The Chairman of the relevant 
Select Committee has been notified in writing about such urgent business. 
 
Notice of any representations received 
No representations from the public have been received regarding this meeting. 
 
Date notice issued and of agenda publication 
 
17 July 2024 
London Borough of Hillingdon 



 

 

Agenda 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 

2 Declarations of Interest in matters before this meeting  
 

3 To approve the minutes of the last Cabinet meeting 1 - 16 
 

4 To confirm that the items of business marked Part 1 will be 
considered in public and that the items of business marked Part 2 in 
private 

 
 

 

 

Cabinet Reports - Part 1 (Public) 
 

5 Report from the former Property, Highways & Transport Select 
Committee - Road Safety Activities & Initiatives around Schools (Cllr 
Jonathan Bianco / Cllr Eddie Lavery) 

17 - 30 
 

6 Social Housing Allocation Policy -  Consultation Draft (Cllr Eddie 
Lavery) 

31 - 106 
 

7 Monthly Council Budget Monitoring Report (Cllr Martin Goddard) -   
TO FOLLOW 

 
 

8 Public Preview of matters to be considered in private (All Cabinet 
Members) 

107 - 110 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 

Cabinet Reports - Part 2 (Private and Not for Publication) 
 

9 Disposal of Barra Hall, Wood End Green Road, Hayes (Cllr Jonathan 
Bianco) 

111 - 120 
 

10 Award of contracts: short-term care home beds (Cllr Jane Palmer) 121 - 126 
 

11 Yiewsley Housing Development at Otterfield & Falling Lane - Main 
Contractor Appointment (Cllr Jonathan Bianco) 

127 - 142 
 

12 Framework Agreement for Minor Works (Cllr Jonathan Bianco) 143 - 160 
 

13 Disposal of disused car park adjacent to Willowtree Marina, Yeading 
(Cllr Jonathan Bianco) 

161 - 170 
 

 
The reports in Part 2 of this agenda are not for publication because they involve the disclosure of 
information in accordance with Section 100(A) and Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended), in that they contain exempt information and that the public 
interest in withholding the information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. 

 

14 Any other items the Chairman agrees are relevant or urgent  
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 1 - 

Minutes & Decisions 
 

 

CABINET 
Thursday, 27 June 2024 
Meeting held at Committee Room 6 - Civic Centre, 
High Street, Uxbridge UB8 1UW 
 
Decisions Published on: 28 June 2024  
Decisions come into effect from: 5pm, 5 July 2024 * 

 
 

 Cabinet Members Present:  
Ian Edwards (Chair) 
Jonathan Bianco (Vice-Chair) 
Martin Goddard 
Douglas Mills 
Susan O'Brien 
Jane Palmer 
 
 
  
  
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Eddie Lavery. 
 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN MATTERS BEFORE THIS MEETING 
 
No interests were declared by Members present. 
 

3. TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE LAST CABINET MEETING 
 
The minutes and decisions of the Cabinet meeting held on 23 May 2024 were 
agreed as a correct record. 
 

4. TO CONFIRM THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED PART 1 WILL BE 
CONSIDERED IN PUBLIC AND THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED 
PART 2 IN PRIVATE 
 
It was confirmed that items of business marked Part 1 would be considered in public 
and those marked Part 2 in private. The Leader of the Council advised that two 
additional items were to be tabled under urgency provisions and considered in 
private relating to the acquisition of land and property. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 2 - 
 

5. SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW: THE COUNCIL'S CONSULTATION 
ARRANGEMENTS 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet welcomes the insights, findings and conclusions of the 
Committee and notes this review was highlighted in the Select Committee 
annual scrutiny report. The Cabinet asks Officers, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Corporate Services, to:  
 

1. Explore the integration of digital devices in libraries, providing users 
with language preferences for live consultations. 

 
2. Provide quick survey options during detailed consultations for users 

who prefer faster responses. 
 

3. Consider adding a dedicated section within 'My Account' for live 
consultation documents to enhance user participation. 

 
4. Foster collaboration with the Youth Council to ensure relevant 

involvement in consultations, encouraging feedback from the youth 
demographic. 

 
5. Consider ways to increase engagement on social media platforms, like 

Facebook, such as addressing comments about consultations and 
guiding users to relevant consultations. 

 
6. Facilitate easier interaction for Councillors by providing shareable links 

to consultations within their wards or wider related issues. 
 

7. Establish a 'You said, we did' approach to provide feedback on 
decisions made and actions taken based on received feedback. 
 

8. Approve using post-meeting links to Council surveys and consultations 
on relevant council meeting YouTube broadcasts to further promote 
them. 

 
9. Consider introducing an annual evaluation across consultations looking 

at their effectiveness in achieving geographical and demographical 
parity to set measurable objectives for improvement.  

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Following a request from the Full Council to review the Council’s consultation 
arrangements, the former Finance & Corporate Services Select Committee 
undertook a review and made some practical recommendations to aid the way 
consultations were devised going forward to increase resident and community 
interest and take-up.  
 

Page 2



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 3 - 
 

The Cabinet Member for Corporate Services expressed gratitude to the Select 
Committee for their work on the report. The Cabinet Member acknowledged the 
importance of consultation as part of local government activities, with the challenge 
being to ensure feedback was obtained from a broad and diverse range of 
community members, not just those who were particularly informed and vocal. The 
need to integrate this work more into the organisation’s culture was highlighted, with 
the aim of gaining more benefits from it. The recent consultation regarding the 
Uxbridge library was cited as a successful example, as it yielded practical and 
sensible ideas that were not initially considered but were now being incorporated. 
The Cabinet Member noted that this would result in significant improvements to the 
facility, cost reductions, and the continued provision of this important service. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Cabinet could have chosen to not approve or amend the recommendations.  
 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Expiry date for any scrutiny 
call-in / date decision can 
be implemented (if no call-
in) 

Cabinet’s decisions can be called in by a majority of 
the select committee by 5pm, Friday 5 July 2024. 

Officer(s) to action Marion Finney 
Directorate Central Services 
Classification Public 

The report and any background papers relating to this decision 
by the Cabinet are available to view on the Council's website or 
by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge. 

 
6. LOCAL FLOOD RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet considers the consultation responses and approves the 
adoption of the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
In the absence of the Cabinet Member, the Leader of the Council introduced the 
report on the Local Flood Risk Management Strategy. The strategy, a legal 
requirement under the Flood and Water Management Act 2000, had been subject to 
consultation from 22 January 2024 to 24 March. Feedback from the consultation was 
incorporated into the proposed strategy. The Leader noted that the strategy was 
intended to be a living document, hosted on the website and broken down into 
accessible chapters for public reference. It was further noted by the Leader that 
comments continue to be received from residents, with approximately 30,000 
properties in the Borough currently at risk of flooding.  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
None, as a statutory requirement. 
 

Page 3



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 4 - 
 

Relevant Select Committee Residents’ Services 

Expiry date for any scrutiny 
call-in / date decision can 
be implemented (if no call-
in) 

Cabinet’s decisions can be called in by a majority of 
the select committee by 5pm, Friday 5 July 2024 

Officer(s) to action Ian Thynne 
Directorate Central Services 
Classification Public 

The report and any background papers relating to this decision 
by the Cabinet are available to view on the Council's website or 
by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge. 

 
 

7. UPDATE TO THE CORPORATE COMPLAINTS POLICY 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 

1) Agree the updated Corporate Complaints Policy as set out in Appendix 
A. 

2) Request Full Council considers updating the Terms of Reference of the 
Corporate Resources & Infrastructure Select Committee to formally 
recognise it as the “Member Responsible for Complaints” as per the 
Ombudsman’s updated Codes. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
The Cabinet Member for Corporate Services introduced a report to update the 
Council’s complaints policy, driven by changes in guidance issued by the Local 
Government Social Care Ombudsman and the Housing Ombudsman Service. The 
Cabinet Member explained that the updates reduced the number of formal complaint 
stages from three to two, making the process more efficient. It also clarified that 
informal complaints should be treated as service requests. These amendments, 
amongst others, were agreed to be incorporated into the revised policy, enabling the 
Council to operate more efficiently and address complaints requiring further 
investigation.  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
None. 
 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Expiry date for any scrutiny 
call-in / date decision can 
be implemented (if no call-
in) 

Cabinet’s decision (1) can be called in by a majority of 
the select committee by 5pm, Friday 5 July 2024 
 
Cabinet’s decision (2) cannot be called-in and comes 
into immediate effect and is referred to the Full 
Council for decision. 

Officer(s) to action Ian Anderson 

Page 4



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 5 - 
 

Directorate Digital & Intelligence 
Classification Public 

The report and any background papers relating to this decision 
by the Cabinet are available to view on the Council's website or 
by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge. 

 
 

8. YOUTH JUSTICE SERVICE STRATEGY 2024-2029 - POLICY FRAMEWORK 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet agrees the Draft Youth Justice Service Strategy 2024-2029 for 
public consultation as a policy framework document. 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
The Cabinet Member for Children, Families & Education introduced the draft Youth 
Justice Strategy 2024-2029 policy framework document for consultation. The report 
sought approval to commence a six-week formal public consultation from 1 July 
2024, including feedback from the select committee. The Cabinet Member noted that 
the proposed draft Strategy built on the success of youth justice services and set out 
a clear vision for service delivery to residents. It outlined the key priorities for the 
next five years to continue being responsive and meet challenging demands and 
requirements.  
 
The Cabinet Member cited the vision in the draft Strategy and the five priorities set 
out: prevention and early intervention, addressing overrepresentation and 
disproportionality, child-centered practice, reducing reoffending, and providing 
victims with restorative justice, which the Cabinet Member noted gave victims a 
voice and an active role in the justice process. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
None, as this was a statutory requirement. 
 

Relevant Select Committee Children, Families & Education 

Expiry date for any scrutiny 
call-in / date decision can 
be implemented (if no call-
in) 

Cabinet’s decisions on this matter cannot be called-in 
and they come into immediate effect for consultation 
to take place. This is a policy framework document 
where consultation with the relevant select committee 
is mandatory and the final decision-maker is the Full 
Council. 

Officer(s) to action Nuzhat Ilyas / Kat Wyatt 
Directorate Children’s Services 
Classification Public 

The report and any background papers relating to this decision 
by the Cabinet are available to view on the Council's website or 
by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge. 

 
 

9. BUDGET OUTTURN 2023/24 

Page 5



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 6 - 
 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 

1) Note the budget monitoring position and treasury management update 
as at March 2024 (Month 12), noting the actions proposed by officers as 
outlined in Part A of this report. 

2) Approve the financial recommendations set out in Part B of the report 
below: 

a) Approve acceptance of £350k grant funding from National Trading 
Standards for costs associated with the delivery of additional 
enforcement work at Heathrow targeting the importation of non-
compliant and unsafe vapes and e-cigarettes. 

b) Approve acceptance of Port Health Transition Fund grant of 
£209,161 to cover the period 1st April to 31st July 2024. 

c) Approve acceptance of the Household Support Scheme grant 
funding of £2,069k for the period 1st April 2024 to 30 September 
2024 inclusive and the proposed scheme as set out in the 
statement at Annex A. 

d) Approve the acceptance of £107k grant funding from the Lawn 
Tennis Association Parks Tennis Renovation Grant for the 
renovation of the tennis courts at Moorhall Recreation Ground. 

e) Agree the request to continue existing operational arrangements 
with Caterplus and Powerday, whilst new contracts are agreed 
and formal governance approved. 

f) Note the interim consultants appointed where the value is above 
£50k in Annex B. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
The Cabinet Member for Finance presented the Council’s 2023/24 budget outturn 
report. Despite an underspend of £2000, additional costs and income shortfalls of 
£9.9 million had been absorbed. Increased demands for social services and reduced 
planning fee income were also noted. Further pressures of £1.8m, including a 
reduced rebate from the West London Waste Authority, had been absorbed within 
the earmarked reserves, which stood at £8.3 million.  
 
The Cabinet Member noted that the surplus on the collection fund had increased to 
£4.2 million and general balances and earmarked reserves amounted to £35.2 
million. It was noted that unutilised capital receipts of £8m had also been retained. 
The savings programme for 2023/24 had amounted to £22.8 million, with £20.1 
million delivered or being delivered, with the remaining savings required representing 
income shortfalls, with alternative options being investigated. General fund capital 
expenditure had showed an underspend of £64.8 million, with decisions on 
rephasing yet to be made. The Cabinet Member highlighted that the Council 
continued its dialogue with the Department for Education regarding the Dedicated 
Schools Grant. An updated was also given on the Housing Revenue Account, where 
on capital expenditure there had been an underspend against the budget of £23.3 
million. 

Page 6



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 7 - 
 

 
Additional recommendations were moved by the Cabinet Member, and agreed by 
Cabinet, relating to the acceptance of grants, extending two contractual 
arrangements and noting the use of consultants. 
 
The Leader of the Council thanked Councillor Goddard and the finance team for their 
work and noted the pressures on Hillingdon Council, which were no different to any 
other local authority. The Leader stated that the Council was not expecting a bailout 
and was reviewing their structures and costs to drive out additional savings. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
None. 
 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Expiry date for any scrutiny 
call-in / date decision can 
be implemented (if no call-
in) 

Cabinet’s decisions (2,a,b,c & e) can be called in by a 
majority of the select committee by 5pm, Friday 5 July 
2024. Cabinet’s decision 2(d) relating to the Lawn 
Tennis grant cannot be called-in, as this was given 
approval prior to the Cabinet meeting under special 
urgency provisions on 25 June 2024 to meet the 
deadline for grant acceptance. 

Officer(s) to action Andy Evans 
Directorate Resources 
Classification Public 

The report and any background papers relating to this decision 
by the Cabinet are available to view on the Council's website or 
by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge. 

 
 

10. PUBLIC PREVIEW OF MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet note the reports to be considered later in private and Part 2 of the 
Cabinet agenda and comment on them as appropriate for public information 
purposes. 
 
Reasons for decision 
 
The Leader introduced the report which provided a public summary of the matters to 
be discussed in the private part of the Cabinet meeting later, increasing the Council’s 
transparency.  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
These were set out in the public Cabinet report. 
 

Relevant Select Committee  

Expiry date for any This matter is not for call-in, as noting only. 

Page 7



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 8 - 
 

scrutiny call-in / date 
decision can be 
implemented (if no call-in) 
Officer(s) to action Mark Braddock 
Directorate Central Services 
Classification Public - The report and any background papers relating 

to this decision by the Cabinet are available to view on the 
Council's website or by visiting the Civic Centre, Uxbridge. 

 
 

11. BECK THEATRE, HAYES - CONTRACT EXTENSION 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1) Agrees the extension of the existing contract to ensure the continued 
delivery of high-quality theatre and cultural offer at the Beck Theatre, 
Hayes until December 2024 on a reduced subsidy level between July 
2024-December 2024; 

2) Agrees to delegate authority on a further extension (maximum of three 
years) based on a zero-subsidy model to the Corporate Director of 
Place, in consultation with Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member 
for Residents’ Services; 

3) Agrees to peppercorn rent for this extension period on similar terms as 
the current arrangement. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet agreed the extension of contractual arrangements with the operator of The 
Beck Theatre in Hayes, with the move to operate in the future without Council 
subsidy.  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Alternative options considered by Cabinet were set out in the confidential report. 
 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Expiry date for any 
scrutiny call-in / date 
decision can be 
implemented (if no call-in) 

Cabinet’s decisions can be called in by a majority of 
the select committee by 5pm, Friday 5 July 2024 

Officer(s) to action Karrie Whelan / Darren Deeks 
Directorate Place 
Classification Private - Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made 

public, the officer report relating to this matter is not because it 
was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the Authority holding that information) 
and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed 
the public interest in disclosing it in accordance with Section 

Page 8



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 9 - 
 

100(A) and paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
 

12. ENTERPRISE ARCHITECTURE INFRASTRUCTURE  & HOSTING OF KEY 
BUSINESS APPLICATIONS 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 

1) Approve continued use of Microsoft Azure Tenancy for Enterprise 
Architecture and Infrastructure as a Service (IaaS) for critical line-of-
business applications servers for a period of five years at a maximum 
value of £3,810k. 

 
2) Approve the continued partnership with Cisilion Ltd as the Cloud 

Solution Provider (CSP) from 1st July 2024 to 30th June 2029 via the UK 
SBS Digital Workplace Solutions Framework and delegate authority to 
the Chief Digital & Information Officer, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Corporate Services, to change the Cloud Solution Provider 
and make any associated decisions, should this be required, during the 
five-year period. 

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet agreed to continue contracts for the Council’s enterprise architecture 
infrastructure to enable the hosting of key business applications and agreed a Cloud 
Solution Provider to deliver this. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Alternative options considered by the Cabinet were set out in the confidential report. 
 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Expiry date for any 
scrutiny call-in / date 
decision can be 
implemented (if no call-in) 

Cabinet’s decisions can be called in by a majority of 
the select committee by 5pm, Friday 5 July 2024 

Officer(s) to action Michael Clarke / Jo Allen 
Directorate Digital & Intelligence / Resources 
Classification Private - Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made 

public, the officer report relating to this matter is not because it 
was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the Authority holding that information) 
and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed 
the public interest in disclosing it in accordance with Section 
100(A) and paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
 

Page 9



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 10 - 
 

13. CONTRACTS FOR VEHICLE HIRE AND DAMAGE REPAIRS ARRANGEMENTS 
IN SUPPORT OF THE FLEET OPERATION 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet agree: 
 

1) For the hire of fleet vehicles to the Council for the period of 1 August 
2024 to 31 July 2028 (4-years), to: 

 
a) Accept the direct award from Car Hire (Days of Swansea) Ltd (trading 

as Days Rental) up to a maximum value of £500,000; 
b) Accept the direct award from Dawsongroup Vans Limited up to a 

maximum value of £200,000; 
c) Accept the direct award from Enterprise Rent a Car Limited up to a 

maximum value of £200,000; 
d) Accept the direct award from London Hire Limited up to a maximum 

value of £200,000; 
 

2) To accept the single tender from Fiveways Municipal Vehicle Hire 
Limited for the hire of fleet vehicles for a 12 month period from 1 August 
2024 to 31 July 2025 up to maximum £175,000, pending the completion 
of a full tender exercise; 
 

3) To authorise the Council’s Fleet Manager to utilise these contracts 
based on the operational needs of the Council and also within approved 
budgets, as set out within the body of the report.  

 
Reasons for decision 
 
Cabinet agreed, where temporary requirements made sense, the necessary 
contracts for the hire of vehicles within the Council’s fleet, for a 4-year period. 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
 
Alternative options considered by the Cabinet were set out in the confidential report. 
 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Expiry date for any 
scrutiny call-in / date 
decision can be 
implemented (if no call-in) 

Cabinet’s decisions can be called in by a majority of 
the select committee by 5pm, Friday 5 July 2024 

Officer(s) to action Stephen Gunter / Michelle Kenyon 
Directorate Resources 
Classification Private - Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made 

public, the officer report relating to this matter is not because it 
was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the Authority holding that information) 
and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed 
the public interest in disclosing it in accordance with Section 

Page 10



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 11 - 
 

100(A) and paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
 

14. ANY OTHER ITEMS THE CHAIRMAN AGREES ARE RELEVANT OR URGENT 
 
Two additional reports were considered by the Cabinet, in private, under urgency 
provisions. 
 

15. ACQUISITION OF RESIDENTIAL ACCOMMODATION IN HAYES 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1) Notes the progress made following the decision by Cabinet on 18 April 
2024 to progress the purchase of the residential properties (HPH3) in 
Hayes to meet local housing needs, including; positive progress to date 
on due diligence; a negotiated reduction off the purchase price and a 
successful grant application to the Greater London Authority (GLA) for 
£19.2m, representing approximately 50% of the purchase price, a grant 
which Cabinet duly accepts. 

2) Agrees to complete the purchase of the HPH3 development in Hayes, 
strictly subject to the final outcome of all due diligence to the 
satisfaction of the Council, for the total purchase price as set out in the 
report, along with the £19.2m of grant funding towards the purchase, 
from the GLA. 

3) Delegates authority to the Corporate Director of Place, in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Property, 
Highways and Transport and Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services, 
to finalise all necessary matters in completing the purchase, again 
strictly subject to final due diligence activities being completed 
satisfactorily. 

4) Authorises the release of capital funds, at the value set out in the report, 
from the HRA Acquisition and Development Budget, to supplement the 
GLA grant funding, to secure the purchase of the site. 

5) Authorises adoption of the Local Lettings Policy for the property in 
Hayes, upon successful acquisition (Appendix 1), and to the release of 
the Policy into the public domain at the relevant time. 

 
Reasons for recommendation 

 
Following Cabinet’s decision in April 2024 to progress the due diligence to support 
the potential acquisition of a residential development in Hayes, along with noting the 
successful GLA grant application of £19.2m towards it, Cabinet agreed the 
necessary decisions to complete the acquisition. Cabinet also agreed a local lettings 
policy for any future use of the property. 
 
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 

Page 11



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 12 - 
 

  
Cabinet considered various options, as set out in the confidential report and the 
previous report it considered in April 2024. 
 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Expiry date for any 
scrutiny call-in / date 
decision can be 
implemented (if no call-in) 

Cabinet’s decisions can be called in by a majority of 
the Select Committee by 5pm, 5 July 2024. If not 
called-in, it can be implemented after this time/date. 

Officer(s) to action Karrie Whelan  
Directorate Place  
Classification Private - Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made 

public, the officer report relating to this matter is not because it 
was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the Authority holding that information) 
and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed 
the public interest in disclosing it in accordance with Section 
100(A) and paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 
 
Urgency provisions – The Leader of the Council agreed the 
report relating to this decision as an urgent item. The Chair of the 
Corporate Resources & Infrastructure Select Committee also 
agreed the matter was urgent and could not reasonably be 
deferred in order for it to be considered at Cabinet. This decision 
was, therefore, taken under special urgency provisions in 
accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012. 

 
 

16. ACQUISITION OF RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT SITE IN UXBRIDGE 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1) Ratifies the previous decision taken by the Leader of the Council on 30 
May 2024 to agree the exclusivity payment to assist with securing the 
site as detailed within the report. 

2) Agrees to acquire the development site in Uxbridge as set out in the 
report and site plan, and release the necessary capital funding to 
purchase it as set out in the report, in line with the Council’s agreed 
policy and budget strategy. Furthermore, Cabinet agrees that the 
acquisition be strictly subject to a satisfactory survey outcome and 
robust due diligence. 

3) Delegates authority to the Corporate Director, Place, in consultation 
with the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Property, 
Highways and Transport, and the Cabinet Member for Residents’ 
Services, to negotiate the terms and completion of the purchase, 
including the purchase price of the site, to explore opportunities for 

Page 12



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 13 - 
 

GLA grant funding and to make all necessary decisions in respect of the 
due diligence work required in support of the site acquisition. 

4) Subject to a successful acquisition, delegates authority to the Corporate 
Director, Place, to appoint external specialist consultant appointments 
to support the delivery of development plans for this site post-
acquisition. 

5) Requests the waiver of the scrutiny call-in period on these 
recommendations due to the urgency reasons set out in the report. 

  
Reasons for recommendation 

 
Following an opportunity presenting itself to the Council, Cabinet agreed to progress 
the acquisition of a residential site in Uxbridge. Cabinet provided the necessary 
delegated authority to finalise the purchase, subject to due diligence and noting the 
opportunity of securing grant funding towards it.  
 
Alternative options considered and rejected 
  
Cabinet considered various options, as set out in the confidential report. 
 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Expiry date for any 
scrutiny call-in / date 
decision can be 
implemented (if no call-in) 

These decisions cannot be called in and take 
immediate effect following the Cabinet meeting, 
because the Chair of the Corporate Resources & 
Infrastructure Select Committee agreed to waive the 
scrutiny call-in period. 

Officer(s) to action Karrie Whelan 
Directorate Place 
Classification Private - Whilst the Cabinet's decisions above are always made 

public, the officer report relating to this matter is not because it 
was considered in the private part of the meeting and contained 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the Authority holding that information) 
and the public interest in withholding the information outweighed 
the public interest in disclosing it in accordance with Section 
100(A) and paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended). 
 
Urgency provisions – The Leader of the Council agreed the 
report relating to this decision as an urgent item. The Chair of the 
Corporate Resources & Infrastructure Select Committee also 
agreed the matter was urgent and could not reasonably be 
deferred in order for it to be considered at Cabinet. This decision 
was, therefore, taken under special urgency provisions in 
accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 
2012. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 14 - 
 

Other than the two urgent matters set out in these minutes, no further additional 
items were considered by the Cabinet. 
  
The meeting closed at 19.22pm 
 
 

Internal Use only* Implementation of decisions & scrutiny call-in 
 

When can these 
decisions be 
implemented by 
officers? 

Officers can implement Cabinet’s decisions in these 
minutes only from the expiry of the scrutiny call-in period, 
unless otherwise stated in the minutes above, which is: 
 
5pm, Friday 5 July 2024 
 
However, this is subject to the decision not being called in 
by Councillors on the relevant Select Committee. Upon 
receipt of a valid call-in request, Democratic Services will 
immediately advise the relevant officer(s) and the Cabinet 
decision must then be put on hold. 
 

Councillor scrutiny 
call-in of these 
decisions 

Councillors on the relevant Select Committee shown in 
these minutes for the relevant decision made may request 
to call-in that decision. The call-in request must be before 
the expiry of the scrutiny call-in period above. 
 
Councillors should use the Scrutiny Call-in App (link below) 
on their devices to initiate any call-in request. Further 
advice can be sought from Democratic Services if required: 
 
Scrutiny Call-In - Power Apps (secure) 
 

Notice These decisions have been taken under The Local 
Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
This Cabinet meeting was also broadcast live on the 
Council’s YouTube channel here for wider resident 
engagement. 
 
Please note that these minutes and decisions are the 
definitive record of proceedings by the Council of this 
meeting. 
 
If you would like further information about the decisions of 
the Cabinet, please contact the Council below: 
 
democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk 
Democratic Services: 01895 250636 
Media enquiries: 01895 250403 
 

Page 14

https://apps.powerapps.com/play/cbc62b47-53ef-479e-a6b6-56d461595a4a?tenantId=aaacb679-c381-48fb-b320-f9d581ee948f
https://www.youtube.com/user/HillingdonLondon
mailto:democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk


 

_________________________________________________________________________ 
 

- Page 15 - 
 

 
 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

 
REVIEW BY THE FORMER PROPERTY, HIGHWAYS & TRANSPORT 
SELECT COMMITTEE:   A REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S ROAD SAFETY 
INITIATIVES AND ACTIVITIES AROUND SCHOOLS” 

 

Cabinet Member(s)  Councillor Jonathan Bianco  
Councillor Eddie Lavery  

   

Cabinet Portfolio(s)  Cabinet Member for Property, Highways and Transport  
Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services  

   

Officer Contact(s)  Anisha Teji, Democratic Services  

   

Papers with report  None 

 

HEADLINES 
 

Summary 
 

 Cabinet is asked to consider the findings, conclusions and 
recommendations made by the former Property, Highways and 
Transport Select Committee after its review into road safety around 
schools, which has been subsequently submitted to Cabinet via its 
successor, the Corporate Resources & Infrastructure Select 
Committee. 

   

Putting our 
Residents First 
 
Delivering on the 
Council Strategy 
2022-2026 
 

 This report supports our ambition for residents / the Council of: 
Be / feel safe from harm 
 
This report supports our commitments to residents of: 
Safe and Strong Communities 
 

   

Financial Cost  Whilst there are no direct financial implications arising from the 
recommendations to this report, should any further activity from the 
review agreed by the Cabinet Member indicate a requirement for 
the implementation of new road safety initiatives/schemes, funding 
sources (notably within the Council’s TfL/LIP allocation) will need to 
be identified. 

   

Relevant Select 
Committee 

 Corporate Resources and Infrastructure Select Committee  

   

Relevant Ward(s)  All  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet: 
 

1) Welcomes the conclusions and findings from the former Property, Highways and 
Transport Committee's review into road safety initiatives and activities around 
schools, as set out in this report. 

 
2) Agrees that officers, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Property, 

Highways and Transport, consider how to best take forward the following specific 
recommendations from the Committee set out below (a-g): 
 
a) Promote projects and events throughout the year through social media 

highlighting the Youth Travel Ambassador programmes and the Dragons’ Den 
event.  

 
b) Explore ways on how communications can be better developed with schools that 

do not engage. This may include introducing working groups amongst schools, 
encouraging Ward Councillors to highlight the benefits of working with the 
Transport team and issuing advisories for schools to be shared with parents at 
the start of the academic year about safe drop-off and pick-ups.  

 
c) With the improvement in technology in CCTV cameras, the Committee 

recommends that Cabinet reviews the current cameras used outside schools and 
looks at improving the cameras as an ongoing programme of works to ensure 
pupils and the public remain safe outside schools where there are restricted 
parking areas and/or consider other enforcement options.  

 
d) Cabinet instructs officers to continue making relevant applications to Transport 

for London for funding to improve road safety across the Borough, ensuring that 
the roads across Hillingdon are safe for all users and that there is appropriate 
signage and road markings outside schools.  

 
e) Cabinet reviews the feasibility of parking enforcement officers attending the 

schools on a reasonable rotational basis. 
 
f) Cabinet instructs officers to investigate those schools that could benefit from 

20mph speed limits, where appropriate, and to work with schools to identify safer 
crossing routes if appropriate. 

 
g) Cabinet requests officers to investigate, where feasible, raising pavements and 

installing bollards outside schools to improve safety.  
 
Cabinet Member recommendation 

 
3) Notwithstanding recommendation 2(f) from the Committee's review, Cabinet 

confirms that the London Borough of Hillingdon, in considering whether to 
introduce a 20 mile per hour speed restriction, will, as Council policy, adopt the 

Page 18



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

approach set out in statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of State for 
Transport pursuant to section 18 of the Traffic Management Act 2004. In exercising 
this, Cabinet and/or the responsible Cabinet Member will expect to be provided with 
evidence that introducing a lower speed limit will have a beneficial effect on 
community safety (for example, outside schools) and that the proposals are 
supported by residents.  

 
Reasons for recommendations  
  
The former Property, Highways and Transport Select Committee undertook a review into the 
Council’s Road Safety Initiatives and activities around the Borough’s schools. Its successor 
Committee, the Corporate Resources and Infrastructure Committee finalised the 
recommendations and completed the review.  
 
The Committee undertook a number of witness sessions hearing from a variety of stakeholders 
and, most importantly, residents, schools and young people. The Committee has made a number 
of positive conclusions and findings regarding the partnerships work in support of road safety 
outside schools. Despite the proactive initiatives in place, Members noted that it was difficult to 
engage with some secondary schools and the levels of enforcement varied across different school 
sites. However, the Committee has proposed some practical recommendations to support the 
Council in strengthening its partnership approach to road safety, infrastructure improvements, 
education programs and effective communication and enforcement measures.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Property, Highways and Transport has also included within this report, 
due to the relevance, an additional recommendation to clarify the Council’s policy in respect of 
20mph speed limits.  
 

Alternative options considered / risk management   
  
The Cabinet could decide to reject some, or all, of the Committee’s recommendations or pursue 
alternative routes by which to progress the objectives of the review.  
  

SUPPORTING INFORMATION  

  
Overview of the review and its purpose  
  
At its meeting on 20 September 2023, the former Property, Highways & Transport Select 
Committee formally agreed to commence a scrutiny review into the Council’s road safety 
initiatives and activities around the Borough’s schools. 
 
The purpose of the review was to make a broad assessment of road safety in Hillingdon and to 
make recommendations to Cabinet for ways in which the Council could enhance its activities for 
the safety of the Borough’s residents. By looking at the local context within Hillingdon, the London-
wide setting, and the national picture, Members considered that they would be in a position to 
offer their findings and recommendations to the decision-making Cabinet. 
  
 
 
 

Page 19



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

Terms of reference  
 
The Terms of Reference for the review were agreed as follows:   
  

1. To understand the Council’s current position and procedures regarding road safety 
initiatives. 

2. To explore the national legislative setting and initiatives undertaken by other London 
Boroughs and local authorities in relation to road safety, particularly outer London 
Boroughs. 

3. To explore road safety trends both locally and nationally. 
4. To assess the Council’s approach to road safety within the vicinity of schools. 
5. To influence any emerging Council plans with respect to road safety and traffic calming. 
6. Subject to the Committee’s findings, to make any conclusions, propose actions, service 

and policy recommendations to the decision-making Cabinet.  
 

To take these objectives forward, during 2023/24, Members held witness sessions hearing 
testimonies from officers, the Cabinet Member for Property, Highways and Transport, school 
representatives as well as witness testimonies from a local resident, schools and Youth Travel 
Ambassadors (YTA).  
 
Background  

The Council’s School Travel and Road Safety Team (STaRS) in Hillingdon comprises 41 
employees, including STaRS officers, practical pedestrian trainers, cycle instructors and school 
crossing patrol officers. Their primary objective is to ensure the safety and well-being of students 
on their journeys to and from school. The STaRS team works closely with schools, parents and 
local communities to promote safer and more sustainable travel options for students.  

The StaRS team provides assistance and guidance to schools in developing their School Travel 
Plans through the Transport for London (TfL) Accreditation Scheme.  They offer projects, 
campaigns and booster packs to schools to showcase their work.  Regular meetings are held with 
School Travel Leads and their Junior and Youth Travel Ambassadors to keep Travel Plans up to 
date.  

Different training initiatives in place include:  

Practical Pedestrian Training This scheme is offered to all primary school children in the 
Borough.  The training focuses on developing awareness of 
the road and teaching pedestrians about safe crossing 
practices. Since its introduction, there has been a significant 
increase in the number of children trained (a 154% uplift 
over the past nine years).   

Cycle Training Also known as Bikeability, this training is provided to primary 
and secondary school students. It has been designed to 
improve cycling skills and takes trainees from the basics of 
balance and control to making independent journeys on 
busier roads. Free Adult Cycle Training to residents in 
Hillingdon and regular maintenance services are offered to 
residents through the  pop-up Dr Bike sessions.  

Page 20



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

Moving On  This is an initiative delivered to Year 6 pupils to assist them 
with their transition to secondary school. It focuses on 
walking, behaviour on public transport and being a 
respectable car passenger. The importance of route 
planning and safe crossing practices are also highlighted to 
students.  

The STaRS team has worked on various projects including school street initiatives, 20mph zones 
outside schools, banner competitions and theatre in education programs.  They formulated a plan 
of events for 2023/24 including a Walk to School Month and Hillingdon’s Active Travel Campaign. 
The Transport & Projects team supports schools by implementing engineering measures to 
ensure road safety and create more sustainable travel routes.   

Relevant legislation  
 
There is a raft of legislation (The Highways Act 1980, The Road Traffic Act 1988 and 1991 and 
the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984) that covers management of the highway both in terms of 
how the roads and footways are looked after and used.  
 

Local authorities are the main delivery agents of tangible road safety schemes. Local authorities 
have a statutory duty under section 39 of the 1988 Road Traffic Act to “take steps both to 
reduce and prevent accidents”. 
 

Information Gathering 

Members were keen to hear first-hand from the residents and road users most impacted by safety 
issues near schools, and those that worked on the frontline.  A variety of witnesses were therefore 
invited to provide their perspectives and experiences to the Committee.  

A breakdown of each witness session with the attendees and themes of discussion are detailed 
below.  

Witness Session 1  

Members heard from the following:  

 Councillor Jonathan Bianco: Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for 
Property, Highways, and Transport. 

 David Knowles: Head of Transportation and Town Centre Projects. 

 Sophie Wilmot: Senior Transport Planner. 

 Lisa Mayo: Road Safety and School Travel Manager. 

 Steve Austin: Traffic, Parking, Road Safety, and School Travel Team Manager. 

During this session, the Committee understood the importance of partnership between the 
Council and schools, emphasising the needs of different schools. Witnesses detailed the School 
Travel and Road Safety Team's efforts, highlighting collaboration with Transport for London (TfL). 
Additionally, discussions covered adult cycle training and the impact of electric bikes. The 
Committee praised efforts in Practical Pedestrian Training and discussed changes in TfL funded 
safety programs.  

Page 21



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

Witness Session 2  
 
Members heard from the following:  
 

 Lisa Mayo: Road Safety and School Travel Manager 

 Danielle Stanley-Watts: STaRS Officer 

 Rayna Ramtohul-Butler: Representative from Grange Park Junior School (School Travel 
Plan Lead) 

 Leo Harrington: Representative from St Helen’s College (School Travel Plan Lead) 

 Sharon Cargill: Representative from St Helen’s College 

 Charlee Green: Junior Travel Ambassador, St Helen’s College 

 Raiden Bhabara: Junior Travel Ambassador, St Helen’s College 
 
The second witness session focussed on exploring levels of engagement with schools. Members 
heard from St Helen’s College, who presented their Junior Travel Ambassador (JTA) program's 
achievements. Highlighted projects included funding applications, a road safety comic strip 
competition, and proposals for a Blue Peter road safety badge. Suggestions to improve road 
safety included encouraging proper drop-off/pick-up locations and addressing inconsiderate 
parking. The importance of school engagement was also emphasised.   
  
Witness Session 3 
 
Members heard from the following:  
 

 Rakesh Kumar: Local Resident  

 Jaskamal Sidhu: Guru Nanak Sikh Academy head teacher  

 Marina Batros: Teacher at Guru Nanak Sikh Academy  

 X5 Youth Travel Ambassadors  
 
In witness session three, the Committee focused on the resident experience and a local resident 
explained their experience of traffic and safety issues near schools. Members heard about chaotic 
conditions during peak times, parking enforcement issues, difficult parent behaviour and lack of 
awareness of road safety. Witness testimonies from Guru Nanak Sikh Academy representatives 
discussed ongoing efforts to promote road safety such as staggered drop-offs and pick-ups and 
engagement with local businesses. The Academy’s Headteacher discussed initiatives such as 
alternative parking arrangements and educational efforts targeting parents and students. 
Concerns about safety, including abandoned vehicles and parental behaviour, were raised, with 
a focus on collaboration and education to address them.   
 
Witness session 4 
 
At the conclusion of witness session 3 and after hearing first-hand resident experiences, Members 
felt that it would be useful to hear further information on emergency accident data and traffic 
offences to formulate a complete picture of the road safety concerns in Hillingdon.   
 
Although representation and data information had been requested from parking services, the 
Committee was advised that it had not been possible to obtain this information due to various 
reasons. 

Page 22



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

 

Members heard again from:  
 

 Lisa Mayo: Road Safety and School Travel Manager 

 Danielle Stanley-Watts: School Travel and Road Safety (STaRS) Officer 
 
At this session key statistics were highlighted to Members regarding accident data, traffic offences 
and the number of road safety initiatives. It was also emphasised that collaborating with schools 
and parents to enhance safety measures around schools was essential. The Committee noted 
that officers were receptive to discussing safety measures with schools or parents and were 
consistently willing to engage in dialogue.  

Key information highlighted to Members  

The Committee was presented with key incident and accident data relating to child safety around 
schools in Hillingdon between 2019 and 2023 and the number of serious collisions around 
schools. Subsequently, officers have clarified, for the purposes of this Cabinet report, that 
between 2019-2023 there had been 4 serious collisions on school roads involving children aged 
0-15 on school days between the hours of 8:00-9:00am and 15:00-16:00pm. 2 of the collisions 
were on 20mph roads and 2 were on 30mph roads. 
 
In terms of any correlation between accident data and schools engaging well with road safety 
initiatives, the Committee was advised that by 2025 all schools would need to have a Climate 
Change Sustainability Lead in place who would be responsible for providing data for active travel. 
Some schools tended to engage with the team more than others.  
 
Members acknowledged that collaborating with schools and parents to enhance safety measures 
around schools was essential. The STaRS team liaises closely with engineers and is aware of 
engineering measures implemented in schools. Officers were open to discussing safety measures 
with schools or parents and were always willing to engage in dialogue. Fostering communication 
and transparency remained a priority in promoting safer routes to school. 
 
Analysis of information gathering sessions 
  
Based on the evidence heard, the Committee identified the key themes that emerged from the 
investigation into the Council's road safety initiatives and activities around the Borough's schools. 
These are summarised below:  
 

- Importance of collaboration: The Council has worked with a variety of stakeholders 
including TfL to encourage sustainable methods for school drop-offs and pick-ups. The 
witness sessions highlighted the importance of collaboration between the Council, schools, 
parents and local communities in promoting road safety.   
 

- Role of the STaRS team: As described earlier in the report, The STaRS Team play an 
important role in ensuring the safety and well-being of students on their journeys to and 
from school. The team provides many projects, activities, events and support to all schools 
in the borough which provide education, training and publicity around road safety and 
sustainable travel. The team assists the schools in developing their school travel plans 
through the TfL Travel for Life Accreditation Scheme enabling them to gain recognition in 

Page 23



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

either bronze, silver or gold accreditations. accreditation scheme. There are currently 21 
Gold, 5 Silver, 10 bronze and 10 Engaged accredited schools. 

 
- Successful initiatives: Members recognised the success of the different initiatives in place 

including the Practical Pedestrian Training in increasing engagement and communication 
between officers and schools. Hillingdon was highly regarded for delivering these types of 
sessions in-house. Additionally, Junior and Youth Travel Ambassadors have played an 
active role in promoting road safety within their schools.  They engage in various projects 
and activities such as submitting pitches for funding, running competitions, and proposing 
initiatives to raise awareness.  

 
- Need for improved traffic management and safety measures: Local residents had 

expressed concerns regarding traffic congestion, chaotic road conditions and safety issues 
caused by school-related activities.  There was a need for improved traffic management 
and safety measures such as better signage, staggered drop-offs and pick-ups and 
engagement with local businesses to manage congestion. Members acknowledged that 
implementing these improvements could be challenging due to budget constraints and 
coordination with relevant authorities. Furthermore, the Committee considered the witness 
evidence that the funding for certain programmes, such as 'Safe Drive Stay Alive', had 
impacted the delivery of road safety education. 

 
- 20mph speed limits:  20mph speed limit zones around schools aim to prioritise the safety 

of children and other vulnerable road users.  Members considered that 20mph zones were 
beneficial as they enhanced safety and lowered the risk of accidents and the severity of 
injuries.  
 

- Engagement with secondary schools: There were challenges in engaging with secondary 
schools, as their willingness to participate in road safety initiatives varied. Efforts had been 
made to encourage their involvement, but it remained a challenge. Members understood 
that secondary schools were generally harder to engage with for a number of reasons 
along with having varying priorities.  

 
- Recruitment of School Crossing Patrol Officers (SCPOs): Members heard how it had been 

difficult in the past recruiting SCPOs due to the unusual working hours and the need for 
dedicated personnel.  Along with a review into such roles, Members noted there had been 
a reduction in the number of SCPOs in recent years. 
 

- Enforcement of parking restrictions: Although parking restrictions have been implemented 
outside schools, the level of enforcement varied.  The Committee agreed with the evidence 
from witnesses that when there was a lack of enforcement, residents were more likely to 
disregard the restrictions and park illegally.  

 
Members formed the view that the investigation on road safety around schools highlighted key 
themes such as collaboration, stakeholder involvement, infrastructure improvements, and 
behavioural change. The challenges highlight the complex nature of ensuring safety, emphasising 
shared responsibility among schools, parents, and the Council. In the Members’ view, addressing 
these issues required ongoing efforts and a comprehensive approach. 
 
 

Page 24



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

Conclusions and key findings 
 
Through its analysis, the Committee ultimately found that:   
 

 
The Committee concluded:  
 

1. There was excellent partnership working between the Transport team, schools 
and local communities and it was recognised that each school had unique 
characteristics, including student demographics, school location and traffic 
patterns.  

 
2. There were effective communications between the Council and schools, and 

this was demonstrated through the proactive Transport team that contacted 
schools regularly, conducted site visits and created different engagement 
workshops.   

 
3. The Transport team had an extensive list of engineering works planned as part 

of its programme to increase road safety and this included providing zebra 
crossings, improving the condition of footway and carriageways, and 
improving signage.  

 
4. The Transport team monitored accident data and near miss incidents to help 

inform ways of working with schools and local community organisations.  
 
The Committee found that:  

 
1. Although the Transport team was proactive in fostering proactive partnership 

working with different schools, it was difficult to engage with some secondary 
schools. 

 
2. Whilst schools often had good initiatives in place to implement road safety 

measures, parents often caused issues during drop-offs and pick-ups as they 
parked inconsiderably, and levels of enforcement varied which caused further 
disorder at school gates.  

 

 
Committee reflections  

The Committee believed that whilst some challenges remained, the testimonies demonstrated 
the dedication and passion of individuals and organisations working towards creating safer 
environments for children, residents, and the community as a whole. The review highlighted the 
significance of a comprehensive and strategic approach to road safety, encompassing 
infrastructure improvements, education programs, effective communication and enforcement 
measures. Members reached the conclusion that by continuing to prioritise road safety and 
fostering partnerships between schools and the community, the Council would work towards 
creating safer and more sustainable environments for neighbourhoods across the Borough.  

 

Page 25



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

Select Committee recommendations & their implementation 

To this endeavour, the Committee proposed some practical recommendations to enhance the 
initiatives already in place, which officers have also given their views on the best or most 
appropriate way they could be implemented in consultation with the relevant Cabinet Member:  

a) Promote projects and events throughout the year through social media highlighting 
the Youth Travel Ambassador programmes and the Dragons’ Den event:  
 
The Committee considered that using social media in an enhanced manner will reach out 
to a wider audience to reinforce the significance of road safety. It is hoped to encourage 
more people to get involved in the initiatives in place such as YTA programmes and the 
Dragons’ Den event.  
 
In terms of implementing this, officers advise that the STaRS Team maintains a 
comprehensive communication plan and collaborates closely with the Comms team to 
promote events and projects through Hillingdon’s communications channels, including 
increased use of social media. They regularly issue termly news bulletins to schools, 
highlighting upcoming activities. All these efforts contribute to school travel plans, 
facilitating TfL accreditation. The team actively encourages engagement with schools that 
have not yet participated, promptly addressing any concerns raised by residents or 
Members by reaching out to the relevant schools. Additionally, schools are incentivised to 
participate in annual Dragons’ Den events via the Youth and Junior Travel Ambassador 
programmes, securing funding for safety and sustainability campaigns within their school 
communities. 
 

b) Explore how communications can be better developed with schools that do not 
engage. This may include introducing working groups amongst schools, 
encouraging Ward Councillors to highlight the benefits of working with the 
Transport team and issuing advisories for schools to be shared with parents at the 
start of the academic year regarding safe-drop off and pick-ups:  
 
The Committee were pleased to see the partnerships in place; however, those schools that 
did not engage missed out on vital information and the support offered by officers. It was 
recommended to explore different ways to develop this such as working groups and 
encouraging Ward Councillors to get involved.  
 
In terms of implementation, officers have reported that the STaRS team is actively team is 
actively exploring ways to enhance support for schools that may not be fully engaged. One 
initiative involves creating working groups, potentially organised by Wards, where teachers 
can collaborate and address common issues. Additionally, the team is in discussions with 
TfL to improve the Travel for Life school travel plan website, tailoring it to the unique needs 
of each London Borough. 

To promote safe and sustainable travel, the STaRS team encourages schools to 
emphasise travel expectations through initiatives such as the Parent Parking Pledge. They 
are also considering sending a standard letter to schools at the start of each term, 
introducing the team and outlining steps to address concerns. These steps include 
reaching out to the STaRS team directly, developing School Travel Plans via the TfL 

Page 26



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

website, exploring soft measures (such as Youth and Junior Travel Ambassador 
programmes), and identifying potential engineering solutions. 

c) With the improvement in technology in CCTV cameras, the Committee recommends 
that Cabinet reviews the current cameras used outside schools and considers 
improving the cameras as an ongoing programme of works to ensure pupils and the 
public remain safe outside schools where there are restricted parking areas and/or 
consider other enforcement options:  
 
In the Committee’s view, CCTV enforcement cameras can aid the monitoring of the school 
premises and surrounding areas for traffic violations. Members considered that they acted 
as useful aids in incident investigations and traffic management and provide parent and 
community reassurance. Members recommended that Cabinet reviews the current 
cameras used outside schools and considers improvements as an ongoing programme of 
works to ensure that pupils and public are and remain safe outside schools where there 
are restricted parking areas and/or consider other enforcement options. This could act as 
a deterrent to parents who choose not to follow school guidelines on dropping off children.  
 
In respect of the use of CCTV cameras for parking enforcement outside schools and on 
School Keep Clear yellow areas, Cabinet may wish to review this as part of any planned 
renewal or replacement programme. It is also noted that Cabinet may wish to explore new 
ways of enforcement activity outside schools, such as the use of ANPR mobile 
enforcement, which is currently being trialled. 

 
d) Cabinet instructs officers to continue making relevant applications to Transport for 

London for funding to continue improving road safety throughout the Borough, 
ensuring that roads across Hillingdon are safe for all users and that there is 
appropriate signage and road markings outside schools: 
 
The Committee considered that it was clear from the evidence that officers made relevant 
applications to TfL for funding to continue to improve road safety across the Borough 
ensuring that Hillingdon’s roads are safe for all users and that there is appropriate signage 
and road markings outside schools. The Committee urged officers to continue to support 
and provide the best possible support to local residents.  
 
To this effect, the Transport and Projects Team has advised that it would continue to lobby 
TfL for funding for a wide range of projects that focus on ‘putting residents first’. The 
allocation for 2024/25 is tabulated below. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

e) Cabinet reviews the feasibility of parking enforcement officers attending schools on 
a reasonable rotational basis: 
 
The Committee determined that the need for parking enforcement officers around schools 
arose from the aim to maintain order, safety and accessibility in the vicinity of educational 
institutions.  Parking officers play a key role in traffic management and pedestrian safety, 
ensuring the legal and efficient use of parking spaces which helps maintain the safety in 
school zones, with overall community support.  
 
In terms of taking this recommendation forward, the Cabinet Member may wish to ask 
officers to look into parking enforcement officer rotas around schools to ensure they the 
continually match any issues identified by the Transport team, parents and school staff. 
Furthermore, the Cabinet Member may wish to explore new ways of enforcement activity 
such as the use of ANPR mobile enforcement, which is currently being trialled.  
 

f) Cabinet instructs officers to investigate those schools that could benefit from 20 
mph speed limits, where appropriate, and work with schools to identify safer 
crossing routes if appropriate:  
 
While there was some discussion by the Committee on the implementation of 20mph zones 
generally, it was noted that exceptions could be made for school areas where there were 
road safety concerns. It was important to recognise and prioritise the safety of children, 
young people and all users around schools to create safer neighbourhoods. However, the 
implementation of 20mph zones needed to be accompanied by effective enforcement, 
education and awareness campaigns. 

  
g) Cabinet requests officers to investigate, where feasible, raising pavements and 

installing bollards outside schools to improve safety:  
 
Members explored considered that bollards, and other infrastructure changes, could aid 
traffic management and help designate drop-off and pick-ups. The Committee considered 
that bollards serve as visual cues for drivers, indicating areas where they need to exercise 
caution and slow down. By blocking off certain areas, bollards discourage drivers from 
parking inappropriately, ensuring clear sightlines and safe passage for pedestrians. 
Regular maintenance and monitoring of bollards are also necessary to ensure their 

2024/25 LIP Scheme Headings Total Budget £000 

Safer Corridors and Neighbourhoods 1,192 

Borough Cycle Training 76 

Cycle Parking 30 

Cycleways Network Development 400 

Bus Priority 210 

Bridge Assessment and Strengthening 30 

Principal Road Renewal 200 

Grand Total 2,138 

Page 28



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

continued effectiveness in promoting road safety around schools. It is therefore 
recommended that officers investigate whether these would be a suitable option outside 
relevant schools. 
 
In respect of any implementation, that Cabinet Member would consider each case on its 
own merit with the input from officers in the Highway Delivery Team, other specialists and 
the Council’s Principal Accessibility Officer.  
  

 
Cabinet Member additional recommendation 3 
 
In March 2024 the Department for Transport issued its Plan for Drivers. This proposed 
strengthening the guidance on the introduction of new 20mph speed limits to appropriate areas 
such as schools, with safety and significant local support at the heart of the decision. 
Recommendation 3 ensures that Council policy reflects the guidance. This additional 
recommendation, notwithstanding the Select Committee’s review, is proposed by the Cabinet 
Member for Property, Highways and Transport to clarify the Council’s policy in this regard. 
 

Financial Implications  
  
The costs associated with the recommendations to this report, mostly focused on enhancing 
communications and engagement between officers and schools, are expected to be managed 
within the Transportation team’s existing budget resources. Should officers’ investigations identify 
a requirement for the implementation of additional road safety schemes, then use of the Council’s 
TfL/LIP funding allocation will be considered, subject to the usual approval process and capital 
release protocols. 
 

RESIDENT BENEFIT & CONSULTATION  

  
The benefit or impact upon Hillingdon residents, service users and communities  
  
The recommendations in this report are designed with the purpose of improving road safety 
around the Borough particularly around schools.  
  
Consultation Carried Out or Required  
  
Witness testimony from the Committee as outlined in this report.  
  

CORPORATE CONSIDERATIONS  

  
Corporate Finance 

 
Corporate Finance have reviewed this report and concur with the Financial Implications set out 
above, noting that there are no direct financial impacts associated with the recommendations 
within this report, with any consequential costs to be contained wihtin the service area’s approved 
budget. 
 

Page 29



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

Furthermore, it is noted that if further Road Safety Schemes are required to be implemented, 
following officers' investigations, suitable funding will be identified within the Transport for London 
Grant Local Implementation Plan Allocation of £2,138k.  
  
Legal  
  
The Borough Solicitor confirms that the legal implications are included in the body of the report.  
  

BACKGROUND PAPERS  

  

 Government Guidance on 20mph speed limits – March 2024 

 Select Committee witness sessions, reports, evidence and minutes 

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/crackdown-on-anti-driver-road-schemes-and-blanket-20mph-limits-to-put-local-consent-first
https://modgov.hillingdon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=423&MId=4609


 

 

 

 

 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

SOCIAL HOUSING ALLOCATION POLICY - CONSULTATION DRAFT 

 

Cabinet Member(s)  Councillor Eddie Lavery 

   

Cabinet Portfolio(s)  Residents Services 

   

Officer Contact(s)  Debby Weller - Central Services 

   

Papers with report  Appendix A: Hillingdon Council Social Housing Allocation Policy, 
July 2023, Consultation Draft 

 

HEADLINES 
 

Summary 
 

 Hillingdon Council is required to have a housing allocation scheme 
in place to assess housing need, advertise available social 
housing and allocate properties to households in need. 
 
This report to Cabinet presents proposed updates and changes to 
Hillingdon’s Social Housing Allocation Policy to ensure it remains 
up to date and meets the needs of residents.  The changes will 
bring greater transparency and clarity to those households who 
are a priority for re-housing, including continued priority for 
residents with 10 or more years’ continuous residency; to extend 
options to a wider range of households to relieve overcrowding; 
and ensure that the most vulnerable groups are supported by the 
policy, for rehousing. 
 
Cabinet is asked to consider and approve the proposed changes 
to the Social Housing Allocation Policy for a period of consultation 
and to agree to receive the consultation findings and final policy at 
the Cabinet meeting in November 2024. 

   

Putting our 
Residents First 
 
Delivering on the 
Council Strategy 
2022-2026 
 

 This report supports our ambition for residents / the Council of: 
Live in good quality, affordable homes in connected communities 
This report supports our commitments to residents of: 
Thriving, Healthy Households 
 
This report supports our Housing Strategy 2021/22 to 2025/26 and 
our Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy 2019 to 2024 

   

Financial Cost  There are no direct financial implications arising from the 
recommendations to this report 

   

Select Committee  Residents’ Services Select Committee 

   

Relevant Ward(s)  N/A 

 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That the Cabinet: 
 

1) Approves the Draft Hillingdon Council Social Housing Allocation Policy July 2024 
included at Appendix A, for consultation. 

2) Agrees to receive the findings of the consultation and any proposals for subsequent 
changes to the policy for consideration at the Cabinet meeting in November 2024. 

 
Reasons for recommendation 
 
The revised Hillingdon Council Social Housing Allocation Policy will make changes to the way in 
which applications for social housing are assessed and prioritised to determine the priority 
banding of each application. The proposed changes will ensure greater transparency around 
those that are a priority for rehousing and seeks greater priority for residents with a long-term 
attachment to the Borough. Social Housing is a scarce resource, that is in short supply. Through 
these changes we seek to make the best use of the stock available to us through prioritisation of 
those giving up larger properties or those needing to decant from their homes, and through 
allowing households that are severely overcrowded to move into homes that relieve some of the 
pressure, reduce waiting times and allow families to make decisions on what best meets their 
needs. This report seeks approval from Cabinet to enter a consultation process to seek feedback 
from stakeholders, residents and current housing register applicants. A further report detailing the 
outcome of the consultation, an equalities impact assessment, final policy and timeline for 
implementation will be presented to Cabinet in November 2024. 
 
Alternative options considered / risk management 
 
Councils are required to have a mechanism to assess housing need, advertise available social 
housing and allocate properties to households in need. Although there have been some minor 
changes made to the Social Housing Allocation Policy, it has not been comprehensively updated 
since 2013. Overtime some weaknesses have emerged in the ability of the policy to respond to 
housing need and to enable the Council to fulfil its functions in an efficient and effective manner. 
For instance, two thirds of those on the register are in bands A and B, making it more difficult to 
identify priorities. For this reason, the option of leaving the policy as at present has not been 
considered, however, the draft policy may change in response to consultation feedback. 
 
Select Committee comments 
 
None at this stage. 
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

1. Councils are required to have in place an allocation scheme for determining priorities 
between applicants for housing which sets out the procedure to be followed when 
allocating social housing. The Hillingdon Social Housing Allocation Policy determines who 
can join the housing register for social housing and the level of priority that will be awarded 
based on an applicant’s circumstances. It provides a framework to determine eligibility, 
qualification and prioritisation of applications for social housing properties via the Housing 

Page 32



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

Register (Choice Based Lettings Scheme). The allocation policy applies to accommodation 
that the Council owns and to nominations that the Council makes to other affordable and 
social homes, such as those owned by Housing Associations. 

 
2. The Hillingdon Social Housing Allocation Policy is used by Hillingdon Council and its 

partner housing associations to allocate social housing using Locata Choice Based 
Lettings. The Housing Register currently has four main bands A, B, C, D. Within band A, 
prioritised ahead of other applicants are A1 (Permanent Decants), A2 (Under occupiers) 
and A3 (Management Transfers). 
 

3. A comprehensive review has not been undertaken since 2013 and some elements of the 
policy require updating. A commitment to do this was included in the Hillingdon Council 
Housing Strategy 2021/22 to 2025/26. One of the main purposes of this review is to reduce 
the congestion in Bands A and B to allow for more effective prioritisation. For the same 
purpose, greater clarity is sought for the prioritisation of key groups i.e. the more vulnerable 
care experienced young people moving on from social care; vulnerable single people 
moving on from homeless supported accommodation recommended for social housing by 
the Single Homeless Move On Panel; and people moving on from other types of social 
care supported housing accommodation including for mental health and learning 
disabilities. In addition, there are some minor amendments needed to stay up to date with 
legislation and ensure coherence with other Hillingdon strategy documents. 
 

4. A revised Hillingdon Social Housing Allocation Policy has been drafted and is included at 
Appendix A. All proposed changes are marked up on the document, using track changes. 
This report seeks approval from Cabinet to enter a consultation phase to seek feedback 
from stakeholders, residents and current housing register applicants on the proposed new 
policy. A further report detailing the outcome of the consultation, an equalities impact 
assessment, final policy and timeline for implementation will follow for consideration to 
Cabinet in November 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

Headline Housing Register and Social Housing Lettings Summary Data 
 

5. At the end of March 2024 there were 3896 households on the housing register. Two thirds 
of those registered were in bands A and B. 

 

Housing Register by Band at March 2024 

Beds All 1 2 3 4 5 

Band A1 
(Permanent 
decant) 

7 3 1 2 1 0 

Band A2 
(Under 
occupier) 

217 120 77 16 3 1 

Band A3 
(Management 
transfer) 

46 25 4 9 8 0 

Band A 485 93 104 166 121 1 

Band B 1791 313 551 743 183 1 

Band C 893 498 250 126 19 0 

Band D 457 175 162 89 31 0 

Total 3896 1227 1149 1151 366 3 

Total in Bands 
A or B 

2546 
(66%) 

554 
(45%) 

737 
(64%) 

936 
(81%) 

316 
(86%) 

3 
(100%) 

 
 

6. There is a fairly even spread of those needing one, two or three bed homes ranging from 
1149 to 1151 and there are 366 requiring four bedrooms or more. The proportion of 
households registered in the higher bands A and B increases with bedsize need.  

 
7. By far the most common reason for being on the housing register is overcrowding. This 

accounts for 1857 or 48% of those registered. The percentage is higher for larger families 
with overcrowding accounting for 64% of registrations for those who need 3-bedroom 
properties and 63% of those needing 4 or more bedrooms.  
 

8. Between April 2023 and March 2024 there have been 401 social housing lettings1 and a 
further 165 lettings that have been used as shortlife temporary accommodation, giving a 
total 566. This compares to 636 in 2022/23. 
 

9. The following table provides a breakdown of the social housing lettings from April 2023 to 
March 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                 
1 Provisional 

Page 34



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

Beds All 1 2 4 4 

Homeless 148 61 47 29 11 

Transfers 86 51 14 13 8 

General Housing Register 107 82 17 7 1 

Extra Care 60 60 0 0 0 

All Social Housing Lettings  401 254 78 49 20 

Shortlife Temporary Accommodation 165 58 58 35 14 

Total Lets  566 312 136 84 34 

 
 

10. A more comprehensive analysis of lettings will be provided with the final report in 
November and will inform an equality impact assessment.  

 
Proposed changes 
 
Method of Awarding Additional Priority 
 

11. A key reason for reviewing the policy is that the priority bands have become congested, 
with the majority of applicants being in the higher priority groups of Bands A and B. This is 
not allowing for sufficient differentiation between applicants to allow for effective 
prioritisation.  

 
12. The current policy awards additional priority to: 

 Couples aged over 21 without children 

 10 years’ continuous residency 

 Working households 

 Member of the British Armed Forces who have continuously resided in the borough for 
10 years prior to signing up for the service and have not been dishonourably 
discharged. 

 
13. For those qualifying for additional priority under the last bullet point a Band A is awarded 

and there are no proposals to alter this. The other 3 additional priorities are currently all 
awarded by moving one Band up i.e. Band D becomes C, Band C becomes B, and Band 
B becomes A. This has resulted in high numbers of applicants in Bands A and B.  

 
14. Of the 3896 on the housing register, 40% have a banding enhancement due to additional 

priority. 
 

Band Total With Additional 
Priority 

Without Additional 
Priority 

A1 (Decant) 7 0 7 

A2 (Under-Occupation) 217 89 128 

A3 (Management Transfer) 46 0 46 

A 485 260 225 

B 1791 1195 596 

C 893 0 893 

D 457 0 457 

Total 3896 1544 2352 

Page 35



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

15. It is proposed that each priority reason for banding on the housing register be two tiered 
so those with additional priority being awarded the higher-level band, as opposed to the 
current situation of moving up a Band.  
 

16. It is also proposed that we reduce the additional priority categories to those below. Only 
one additional priority would be able to apply to a case, this would not be cumulative to 
allow a household to increase two additional bands.  

 10 years’ continuous residency 

 Member of the British Armed Forces who have continuously resided in the borough for 
10 years prior to signing up for the service and have not been dishonourably 
discharged. 

 
17. The revised bands would be numbered 1 – 14 with each priority banding reason being two 

tiered to give enhanced priority to those who meet the additional priority criteria. This will 
enable a balanced approach in rewarding long-term residency while assisting in meeting 
the most pressing needs of residents and provide greater visibility of priorities. 
 

18. The estimated impact on the housing register of making the changes is shown in table 
below. 

Revised  
Bands 

Total Previously 

1 0 A1 (Decant) with additional priority 

2 7 A1 (Decant) without additional priority 

3 90 A2 (Under-Occupation) with additional priority 

4 127 A2 (Under-Occupation) without additional priority 

5 2 A3 (Management Transfer) with additional priority 

6 44 A3 (Management Transfer) without additional priority 

7 155 A with additional priority  

8 70 A without 

9 260 B with additional priority  

10 596 B without 

11 1195 C with additional priority  

12 893 C without 

13 0 D with additional priority  

14 457 D without 

Total 3896  

 
 
Priority Groups  
 

19. To make sure that particular priority need groups recognised by the Council are successful 
in achieving lettings the Band awarded has been increased from B to band 7 (Band A 
equivalent) for those with additional priority and band 8 (Band A equivalent) for those 
without. This banding will apply for vulnerable care experienced young people and for 
people moving on from social care supported accommodation including for mental health 
and learning difficulties. Band 7 & Band 8 will also be awarded for vulnerable single people 

Page 36



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

moving on from homeless supported accommodation based on recommendation of a 
social letting from the Single Homeless Move On Panel.  

 
Overcrowding  
 

20. The current social housing allocations policy allows households with a four-bedroom 
assessed need to be able to bid for three-bedroom properties so long as this does not 
result in statutory overcrowding. 

 
21. It is proposed that we extend that further to other bed size need groups so long as it results 

in an improved situation for the family and does not result in statutory or severe 
overcrowding. This would mean that a family in a one-bedroom property that required a 
three-bedroom property would be able to bid and move into a two-bedroom property to 
relieve some of the overcrowding within the home.   
 
Housing Register at end March 2024: 

 

Need Total Main reason 
Overcrowding 

1 bed 1227 219 

2 bed 1149 665 

3 bed 1151 742 

4+ bed 369 231 

Total 3896 1857* 

*76% in bands A and B 
 
 
Other amendments 
 

22. Other proposed amendments to the Social Housing Allocation Policy are minor and are 
referenced in the table below. The policy changes are marked up on the proposed 
amended policy attached at appendix A.  

 

Section Change 

Various The Council altered to Hillingdon Council throughout 

Summary A summary section has been included at the start of the policy to aid 
clarity 

1.1 List of relevant legislation updated 

1.2 Reference to fixed term tenancies removed as only needs to say in 
accordance with the Tenancy Strategy 

2.1 Bullet points relating to eligibility rules updated 

2.2.3 Qualifying criteria related to hardship has been more clearly worded. 
A previous exclusion relating to people over 60 living outside 
Hillingdon has been removed so that the qualification relates only in 
instances where there is a legal obligation.  
It is also clarified that an employment offer means full time 
employment 

Page 37



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

2.2.4 It has been clarified that for continuous residence, periods away for 
study that will be disregarded are for a period of 3 years rather than 3 
times. 
Care leavers now referred to as care experienced young people 
throughout.  
Care experienced young people will be regarded as having a local 
connection if they live in or outside the borough as required by 
statutory homelessness guidance.  
Additional exceptions to the local connection criteria have been 
included for social tenants who (i) need to move to take up a job or 
live closer to work as required by the Right to Move regulations or (ii) 
have move away while being held on remand. 

4.1 The list of Locata partners has been removed as it is not necessary to 
keep this information up to date in the Social Housing Allocation 
Policy. 

5.1 Although those with savings of £30,000 or more are excluded under 
qualifying criteria, this cannot be applied where the applicant falls 
within a reasonable preference category. In this instance, those who 
have savings over £30,000 will be placed in Band 13 or 14.  

5.2 Stipulates that the separation of Bands between those with or without 
an additional priority categorisation will apply before date order. 
 
Error corrected on example 3 regarding band date. 

5.4 Information regarding help with bidding has been brought up to date 
with current practice and bidding cycles. 

5.11 Section on Local lettings policies updated to provide greater discretion 
on when they may be used and provide improved readability.  

6. Reference to Lettings Plan updated in line with Section 9 

9 The policy has been amended to enable the Council to produce a 
Lettings Plan as and when required rather than annually.  

10.2, 10.3 & 
10.4 

Information regarding who can and who should not be included on the 
social housing application has been updated. This is to ensure 
consistency with the Tenancy Policy and Tenancy Strategy and is line 
with legal advice. 

11.2 Further clarity has been provided in the table of examples given 
relating to family composition and the number of bedrooms for which 
they will be considered. This follows a recommendation given during 
a recent Housing Ombudsman case in which the Council was 
successful. 
A paragraph has been included regarding the importance of notifying 
the Council of any changes.  

12.1 Additional text has been included to make reference to the awarding 
of Band 7 via the Single Homeless Move On Panel to meet the needs 
of those who are particularly vulnerable. 
 
Definition of Bed & Breakfast as nightly paid accommodation added. 

14 Text regarding Additional Priority has been amended to reflect the 
proposal for Bands to be two tiered to differentiate between those with 

Page 38



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

or without additional priority as set out above under ‘Method for 
Awarding Additional Priority’. 

15.1 Table showing waiting times removed and sentence added confirming 
that this will be published annually on the council’s website. 

Social Housing 
Allocation 
Summary Table 

Section added to summarise Additional Priority 
Main table amended in line with proposals. 

 
 

Financial Implications 
 
There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations to this report. 
 

RESIDENT BENEFIT & CONSULTATION 
 
The benefit or impact upon Hillingdon residents, service users and communities? 
 
By reviewing the Social Housing Allocation Policy the Council has given renewed consideration 
to the prioritisation of social housing allocations and provided increased clarity for residents. A 
comprehensive equality impact assessment and inclusive consultation process will follow.  
 
Consultation carried out or required 
 
Substantive changes to the Social Housing Allocation Policy require a period of consultation. The 
Council is legally required to consult with Housing Associations operating in the Borough, and it 
is also important to seek views and feedback for other partners, stakeholders, residents and 
current housing register applicants. The feedback received will enable amendments to be 
considered for inclusion in the policy ahead of a final version to be considered by Cabinet in 
November 2024. The feedback will also contribute to the completion of a thorough equalities 
impact assessment, which will be considered by Cabinet alongside the revised policy.  
 
There is no statutory timeline for consultation, however the Council must provide reasonable 
opportunity for feedback on the proposals.  
 
This report seeks approval to begin a ten-week consultation period which will commence on 5th 
August and close on 13th October 2024. 
 
The consultation will include: 
 
- Use of the Council’s website, social media channels 
- A survey will be made available for respondents to provide feedback on the draft policy 
- Individual and group events will be held to gather feedback from key stakeholders  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet Report – 25 July 2024   
(Part 1 - Public) 

CORPORATE CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Corporate Finance 
 
Corporate Finance have reviewed this report and concur with the Financial Implications set out 
above, noting there are no direct financial implications associated with the recommendation in 
this report. 
 
Legal 
 
By section 166A(1) Housing Act 1996, Local authorities are required to have an allocation scheme 
determining priorities for the allocation of accommodation and the procedures to be followed. 

In preparing or modifying its allocation scheme, the Council must consult and have regard to its 
homelessness strategy, its tenancy strategy, any statutory guidance on allocations, the London 
housing strategy and its public sector equality duty.  

There is no legal impediment to the Council consulting on the revised Hillingdon Social Housing 
Allocation Policy as proposed. 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
NIL 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London Borough of Hillingdon 
 

 
Social Housing Allocation Policy 

 
July 2024 

 
 

Consultation Draft

Appendix A 

Page 41



2  

Contents 
 
 
 

 Title Page 

 Summary 5 - 12 

1 Introduction 13 - 15 
 • Legal context 

• Aims of the allocation policy 

 

2 Eligibility and Qualification for Housing 16 - 19 
 • Eligibility rules 

• Qualification rules 

 

3 Who can make an application 19 - 20 

4 Statement on choice 20  
 Locata Housing Services – Central lettings agency  

5 How the choice based lettings scheme works 
(Locata) 

21 - 27 

 • Priority banding 

• Priority dates 

• Property advertising 

• Bidding for a property – help with bidding 

• Short-listing 

• Offers of accommodation 

• The effect of choices on waiting times 

• Feedback on let properties 

• Ring-fenced lettings 

• Sensitive lettings 

• Local lettings policies 

 

6 Allocation outside choice based lettings (Locata) 28 
7 Refusals following direct offers 29 - 30 

 • Recording the refusal 
• Unsuitable offers 
• Consequences for refusing a reasonable offer 
o Homeless households 
o Service tenants 
o Management transfers 
o Reciprocal agreements 
o Temporary and permanent decants 
o Ex-tenants discharged from an institution 
o Other circumstances 

 

 

Page 42



3  

 

8 Pre-Offer Verification Checks 30-31 

9 Lettings plan 31 

10 Applying for housing 32 - 36 
 • Tackling fraud 

• Who can be included on the application 
• Who should not be included on the 

application 
• Change of circumstances 
• What happens if I do not notify of a 

change? 
• Annual reviews 

• Cancelling an application 

 

11 Assessment of housing need and 
determining priority 

37 - 39 

 • Initial assessment 
• Bedroom standard - size of 

accommodation 
• Shared residency of children 

 

12 Reasonable preference groups 39 - 45 
 • Homeless households 

• Households living in unsanitary and 
unsatisfactory housing conditions 

• Overcrowded households 
• Medical grounds 
• Welfare grounds 

o Care experienced young people 
o Fostering and adoption 
o Move-on from supported housing 

• Hardship grounds 

 

13 Local priorities 45 
 • Members of the British Armed Forces 

• Specific schemes e.g. National witness 
mobility 

• Under-occupation 
• Releasing adapted property 
• Decants – permanent & temporary 
• Management transfer 
• Reciprocal request 
• Ex-tenant discharged from an institution 
• Relinquishing of tenancies 
• Service tenants where there is a contractual 

obligation 

 

14 Additional priority 48 

 • 10 year continuous residency  

Page 43



4  

15 Encouraging personal responsibility 50 

 • Homeless households in temporary 
accommodation 

• All applicants – unreasonable refusal of 
offers 

 

16 Specialist accommodation 51 - 52 
 • Disabled adapted properties 

• Older person dwellings 
• Sheltered housing 
• Extra care housing 
• Traveller pitches 

 

17 Mobility within and across Hillingdon Council 53 

 • West London cross borough 
• Pan-London mobility (Home Moves) 
• Seaside and country 
• Mutual exchange 

 

18 Scheme implementation arrangements 53 
19 Changes to the scheme 53 
20 Members of Hillingdon Council, staff members & 

their relations 
54 

Appendix 
1 

Summary table of priority band and date  55 

 Annex 1 People ineligible for an allocation of 
accommodation by the council 

 

 

Page 44



5  

SUMMARY OF HILLINGDON’S SOCIAL HOUSING ALLOCATION POLICY (NEW 
SECTION) 
 
1. This policy document sets out how we make decisions about the allocation of 

council homes for rent in Hillingdon and the allocation of housing association 
homes where the council has nomination rights. This summary section is intended 
to provide a reasonably short and accessible explanation of the policy including the 
priorities for allocations. The full policy text is set out after the summary and should 
be referred to in order to fully understand how the policy operates.  

 
2. Social housing is a limited resource, so it is important that we have an open, fair 

and transparent scheme setting out how we allocate social housing and the 
procedures to be followed. This is a legal requirement for the council. 

 
3. There are, in the region of 18,000 council or housing association homes for rent in 

Hillingdon, making up about 16% of housing in the borough. There are roughly 400 
to 450 social housing properties available to let each year in what we refer to as 
general needs homes and in sheltered and extra care housing. At the end of March 
2024 there were 3,896 households on the Housing Register in Hillingdon. The 
housing register is split into different bands depending on the level of priority 
awarded under the policy. Shown below is the average and the longest amount of 
time that those in the highest bands on the housing register currently wait before an 
allocation is made. As this is based only on those that secure an offer, many other 
households wait considerably longer in lower bands and may never secure an offer 
of even a viewing.  

 

4.  
 

 Average Wait Longest Wait 

Sheltered accommodation 19 months 3 years 

Studio 33 months 33 months 

1 bedroom 10 months 27 months 

2 bedroom flat or maisonette 16 months 4 years 

2 bedroom house 18 months 32 months 

3 bedroom flat or maisonette 19 months 19 months 

3 bedroom house 4 years 6 years 

4 bedroom house 4 years 6 years 

 
5. The objectives of our Social Housing Allocation Policy are to: 
 

• Provide a fair and transparent system by which people are prioritised for social 
housing 

• Help those most in housing need 

• Reward residents with a long attachment to the borough 

• Make best use of Hillingdon’s social housing stock 

• Promote the development of sustainable mixed communities 
 
Eligibility and qualification to join the housing register 
 
6. To be considered for an allocation of social housing you must be eligible for and 

Page 45



6  

qualify for an allocation. Eligibility is about where you usually live and your 
immigration status. The rules for this are set by the national government and are 
the same for all local authorities in England. Further details are provided in section 
2. 

 
7. Local authorities can largely set their own rules for who qualifies for social housing, 

but there are some groups of people that must be included. Housing legislation 
requires every local authority allocation scheme in England to ensure ‘reasonable 
preference’ for social housing allocations is given to certain categories of 
applicants. This means that they must be given a reasonable level of priority, and it 
covers the following groups: 

 

• Those who are homeless or owed certain homelessness duties 

• Insanitary or overcrowded housing or unsatisfactory housing conditions  

• A need to move on medical or welfare grounds 

• People who need to move to a particular locality to avoid hardship to themselves 
or others 

 
8. Local authorities must also give ‘additional preference’ to applications from certain 

serving and ex-members of the armed forces (and reserve forces) who fall within 
the reasonable preference categories. 

 
9. Guidance that the council is legally obliged to take notice of, also encourages 

reasonable preference to be given to people who are homeless and require urgent 
rehousing as a result of domestic abuse and to give reasonable preference to foster 
carers.  

 
10. Hillingdon Council’s own qualification rules restrict which households can join the 

housing register. Including restrictions helps to ensure that the council’s priorities 
for social housing allocations are clear and that other households are not given 
false hope of a council home. The following types of households do not qualify to 
join the housing register: 

 

• Those that do not have a clearly demonstrated housing need.  

• Those that have sufficient financial resources.  

• Households that do not currently live in the borough 

• Households who have not been continuously living in the borough for at least 10 
years 

 
11. There are some exceptions where households in these circumstances can still 

qualify, including if they fall within the reasonable preference groups. In certain very 
specific instances, the requirement for 10 years residency could be reduced to 5 
years. See section 2.2.5 

 
Making an application 
 
12. Hillingdon residents over the age of 18 can apply to join the housing register. 

Applicants need to register via Locata Housing Services who operate a Choice 
Based Lettings Scheme for Hillingdon Council and various other social housing 
providers. Applicants are allocated a priority band and within each band, priority is 
determined in date order. Vacant council and housing association homes are 

Page 46



7  

advertised on the West London Locata website and applicants are entitled to bid for 
up to 3 properties in each week . Some properties will have restrictions limiting 
them to certain types of households. The council can provide help with bidding for 
people who are not able to do this online. Hillingdon residents are entitled to bid for 
properties advertised in the “Hillingdon” section of Locata and the “cross borough” 
section as well as properties advertised by several housing associations that 
operate in Hillingdon. 

 
13. Once bidding has closed a shortlist is created for each property and will place 

residents in a band and then priority date order for all suitable bids. Those at the top 
of the list are contacted to view the property. If they accept the property they are 
invited to  sign the tenancy. If the property is not accepted it is offered to the next 
household on the shortlist going down the list until it is accepted.  

 
14. The length of time you have to wait is affected by the choices you make on your 

housing application. Those prepared to consider a broad range of areas and 
property types are likely to wait for less time. Details of properties allocated are 
available at www.Locata.org including the priority band and registration date of the 
successful bidder. 

 
15. On some occasions a property may be sensitively allocated in the interest of nearby 

tenants and residents that have experienced harassment, noise nuisance or un-
tenant like behaviour over an excessive period. These properties will be clearly 
marked on the advert and additional verification checks into any potential incoming 
tenant will be completed.   

 
16. On new developments or acquisitions, the Council may agree a local lettings policy 

for council homes or those owned by another social housing provider. This can help 
ensure balanced sustainable communities, mitigate management problems and 
address specific council aims for the development.  

 
Priority Banding 
 
17. Hillingdon Council has previously operated a scheme with just four bands A to D 

and with some priorities set out within Band A. At the beginning of April 2024, there 
were 755 households in Band A. We are increasing the number of Bands to 14 so 
that there is a greater spread of the Bands across the register and greater clarity 
regarding priorities for rehousing. Within each band a priority date order will 
continue to apply.  

 

Band 1 This is the highest priority band and is only awarded to households who 
are being decanted from their existing home and qualify for additional 
priority due to having 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon  

Band 2 As Band 1 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 3 This band is for under occupying social tenants moving to a property with 
fewer bedrooms and that qualify for additional priority due to 10 years’ 
residence 

Band 4 As Band 3 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 5 This band is for households for which a management transfer has been 
agreed due to exceptional circumstances and that qualify for additional 
priority due to 10 years’ residence 

Page 47

https://www.locata.org.uk/locatahome/
http://www.locata.org/


8  

Band 6 As Band 5 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 7 This band is for households with an emergency and very severe housing 
need other than the needs covered by Bands 1 to 6 and that qualify for 
additional priority due to 10 years’ residence. For full detail see table at 
Appendix 1 

Band 8 As Band 7 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 9 This band is for household with an urgent need to move and that qualify 
for additional priority due to 10 years’ residence. For full detail see table at 
Appendix 1 

Band 10 As Band 9 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 11 This band is for households with an identified need to move and that 
qualify for additional priority due to 10 years’ residence 

Band 12 As Band 11 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 13 Homeless applicants without 10 years’ residence who do not own a 
property or have savings over £30,000 

Band 14 Applicants within a Reasonable Preference category who own a property 
or have savings over £30,000 

 
Offers of Accommodation 
 
18. In certain circumstances a direct allocation may be made outside of the choice 

based lettings scheme. A list of these circumstances is included at section 6.  
 
19. If there is a clear reason why the specific property would not be an appropriate 

match for the specific applicant, the offer will be withdrawn, and the right of the 
applicant will not be affected. If, however, a reasonable offer is refused, this may 
have important consequences including discharge of a council duty, eviction 
proceedings and loss of priority banding. Further detail is shown in section 7.3.  

 
20. Joining the housing register does not guarantee an offer of accommodation. Many 

more people are on the register than we will be able to offer accommodation. We 
will also carry out checks before an offer is made to make sure that the 
circumstances of your household are as you have been assessed and that you 
have not behaved in a way that would make you unsuitable as a tenant. These 
include checking against eligibility and qualifying criteria; rent and council tax 
arrears and serious anti-social behaviour. A full list of verification checks is included 
at section 8. 

 
21. To achieve the right balance of allocations to different groups and to manage the 

cost of homelessness the Council may set out requirements in a Lettings Plan. To 
achieve allocation targets the Council reserves the right to enhance access by 
advertising or directly allocating some properties to specific groups.  

 
22. In cases where specific action has been taken to release homes, the resulting 

vacancies will be allocated to particular groups. For instance, homes recovered as 
a result of fraud activity may be allocated to homeless households and homes 
released by under occupiers allocated to overcrowded households. 

 
23. Enquiries about applications may be made at any time to guard against 

misrepresentation and fraud. Checks may involve cross referencing information 
provided by applicants with other data that the Council holds. 

Page 48



9  

 
 
 
The applicants’ household and number of bedrooms 
 
24. The appropriate size of accommodation to offer will depend on the composition of 

the household. Because someone is living with you currently and is a member of 
your family, it does not mean that the Council will treat them as a member of your 
household for the purpose of this Allocation Policy. The applicants' household 
includes partners, children under 18, children over 18 studying for their first degree 
(or similar), dependent relatives and live-in carers (please refer to section 11.2 for 
full details). 

 
25. The Council must be notified in writing of any change in circumstances that will or 

might affect your priority for housing such as changes in the household members or 
moves to alternative properties. Every applicant will be asked to renew their 
application annually. This will include a request to provide any information on 
changes in circumstances. If not renewed within 28 days the application may be 
cancelled without further notice. 

 
26. Applicants can ask for a review of any decision made under the terms of this policy. 

Requests must be made in writing within 21 days of a decision. 
 
27. The size of accommodation for which applicants will be considered is based on the 

‘bedroom standard’ as used by the English Housing Survey to produce estimates of 
overcrowding. The Secretary of State takes the view that the bedroom standard is 
an appropriate measure of overcrowding for allocation purposes and recommends 
that all housing authorities adopt this as a minimum. A separate bedroom is 
allocated to  

• each married or cohabiting couple,  

• any other person aged 21 or over,  

• each pair of adolescents aged 10-20 of the same sex,  

• and each pair of children under 10.  

• Any unpaired person aged 10-20 is paired, if possible, with a child under 10 of 
the same sex, or, if that is not possible, he or she is given a separate bedroom, 
as is any unpaired child under 10.  

• This standard is then compared with the actual number of bedrooms available 
for the sole use of the household. Examples of this in practice are provided in 
section 11.2. 

 
28. In calculating the number of bedrooms available in a property the Council will treat 

every habitable room as a bedroom except kitchens, bathrooms and one room for 
use as a living room. 

 
29. A management transfer due to extreme circumstance will only be to the same size 

accommodation regardless of a housing need for a larger home. 
 
30. Where there is a shared residency arrangement, children are only considered to 

need one home of adequate size. 
 
Reasonable Preference Groups, Local Priorities and Additional Priorities 

Page 49



10  

31. The table provides more detail regarding the Band which applies in different 
circumstances. The full banding breakdown can be found in a summary table at end 
of the policy. 

 

Reasonable Preference Groups Band with 
10 years’ 
residency 

Band without 
10 years’ 
residency 

The council will maintain the protection provided by the statutory reasonable 
preference criteria in order to ensure that priority for social housing goes to those in 
the greatest need. 

Homeless households 

In temporary accommodation and landlord wants 
property back and the Council cannot find alternative 
temporary accommodation 

7 13 

Placed in nightly paid temporary accommodation 9 13 

In other forms of temporary accommodation or has no 
accommodation 

11 13 

Move on to social housing approved by Homeless 
Move on Panel 

7 7 

Households living in insanitary and unsatisfactory 
conditions 

  

Closing Order issued, i.e. property is unfit for human 
habitation and there is no alternative measure to 
render the property fit as advised by Environmental 
Health Officer  

7 8 

Where emergency re-housing is essential, for 
example, compulsory purchase order (CPO) is issued 

7 8 

Household with dependent children living in unsanitary 
or unsatisfactory housing that cannot be addressed by 
Environmental Health action. 

9 10 

Overcrowded households 

Statutorily overcrowded as defined in Part X of 
Housing Act 1985 

9 10 

Severely overcrowded – where a household is lacking 
2 or more bedrooms 

9 10 

Other overcrowded households lacking 1 bedroom. 11 12 

Medical grounds 

Emergency Medical: the applicant or a member of the 
applicant’s household has a life threatening condition 
that is seriously affected by their housing. 

7 8 

Medical Hardship: the applicant’s current housing 
conditions are having a major adverse effect on the 
medical condition of the applicant or a member of the 
applicant’s household 

9 10 

Medical Need: the applicant’s current housing 
conditions are having a moderate or variable adverse 
effect on the medical condition of the applicant or a 
member of the applicant’s household 

11 12 

Welfare grounds 

Homeless persons fleeing domestic abuse with an 9 10 

Page 50



11  

urgent need for rehousing 

Care experienced young people approved by the care 
experienced transition panel 

7 8 

Fostering and adoption 7 8 

Local Priorities 

In addition to statutory reasonable preference groups, the council will provide 
housing assistance to certain groups who meet local needs and priorities 

Members of the British Armed Forces discharged 
within the last 5 years 

7 8 

Specific schemes that Hillingdon Council participates 
in such as the national witness mobility scheme and 
schemes concerned with gang violence and with 
domestic abuse 

7 7 

Under-occupation 3 4 

Regeneration/essential/urgent decant  1 2 

Other decant 9 10 

Management Transfer 5 6 

Reciprocal requests where there is an imminent 
personal risk 

7 7 

Ex-tenant discharged from an institution 9 10 

Relinquishing more than one property 9 10 

Service tenants where there is a contractual obligation 7 8 

Additional Priority 

Additional priority is awarded in order to determine priorities between people in the 
reasonable and local preference groups. 

10 years’ residency 
 
Banding enhancement varies depending on other 
household circumstances 

1 
3 
5 
7 
9 

2 
4 
6 
8 
10 

Sheltered Housing 
Must meet age criteria and bid for sheltered housing 
 

 
11 

 
12 

 
 

Encouraging personal responsibility 

32. Homeless households that have been living in temporary accommodation longer 
than other households with the same bedsize need and priority banding level, will 
be made one direct offer of accommodation. If unreasonably refused the council will 
discharge its homelessness duty and withdraw any temporary accommodation. 
Average waiting times will be published annually on the council's website. 

 
33. Refusal of more than 3 reasonable offers will result in 6 months suspension from 

bidding. 
 
Specialist accommodation 
 
34. Disabled adapted properties will be advertised and allocated to a person assessed 

Page 51



12  

as needing that particular type of accommodation ahead of other applicants in a 
higher band or with an earlier priority date. In exceptional circumstances a suitable 
property may be directly allocated.  

 
35. Hillingdon Council has a number of properties restricted for those aged over 55 or 

over 60. Applicants can bid for these properties in the normal way if the main 
applicant meets the age criteria. Partners under 55 or 60 are permitted to live at the 
property but cannot be a joint tenant until they reach the minimum age for the 
accommodation. 

 
36. If a couple apply for sheltered housing, both must generally be over 60 although 

some housing associations will accept applicants aged 55. They can only bid for 
sheltered housing unless they have other identified needs. 

 
37. Extra care housing is allocated outside of the Locata choice based lettings scheme 

by a panel of representatives from Housing, Health and Social Services. 
 
38. Traveller pitches are allocated in the same way as general needs properties. 
 
Mobility within and across the Council’s Boundary 
 
39. There are schemes that enable lettings in other local authority areas, including by 

mutual exchange. These operate outside of this allocation policy. Details are 
included in section 17.2. 

 
 
  

Page 52



13  

 

1. INTRODUCTION (ORIGINAL POLICY START) 
 

The Housing Allocation Scheme describes how Hillingdon Council assesses 
applications for housing, prioritises each application and decides which applicant will 
be offered (allocated) Council and Housing Association housing. 

 
The Housing Allocation Scheme covers housing in Hillingdon owned by Hillingdon  
Council or by Housing Associations that have entered into a nominations agreement 
with Hillingdon Council. This is called social housing. 

 
Hillingdon Council receives many enquiries every year from people looking to rent a 
home in the borough. Because Hillingdon only has a limited amount of social housing 
available to rent, the main purpose of this scheme is to explain who will be allocated 
housing and why. 

 
1.1 Legal Context 

 
The Housing Allocation Scheme sits within a legal framework which is summarised 
below. 

 
The Housing Act 1996 (as amended by the Homelessness Act 2002, the Localism 
Act 2011 and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) requires local authorities to 
make all allocations and nominations in accordance with an Allocation Scheme. A 
summary of the Allocation Scheme must be published and made available free of 
charge to any person who asks for a copy. 
 
This document is available on Hillingdon Council’s website www.hillingdon.gov.uk 
and paper copies will be provided on request. 

 
The Housing Act 1996 (as amended) requires local authorities to give reasonable 
preference in their allocations policies to people with high levels of assessed housing 
need. The main groups are: 

 

• People who are homeless as defined by the Housing Act 1996, Part 7 

• People who the council has a legal duty to provide housing to (under section 
190(2), 193(2) or 195(2) (or under section 65(2) or 68(2) of the Housing Act 
1985) or who are occupying accommodation secured by any such authority 
under section 192(3))  

• People occupying insanitary or overcrowded housing, or who are 
otherwise living in unsatisfactory conditions, 

• People who need to move on medical or welfare grounds (including any 
grounds relevant to a disability); and 

• People who will suffer hardship to themselves or to others if they are unable to 
move to a particular locality or district. 

 
The Act also requires local authorities to state within the policy what its position is 
on offering applicants a choice of housing accommodation or offering them the 
opportunity to express preference about the housing accommodation to be 
allocated to them. Our policy on choice is described below in Section 4. 

 

Page 53

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/
http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


14  

This Housing Allocation Scheme has been formulated with regard to the law and 
regulatory requirements, including: 

 

• Housing Act 1985 

• Housing Act 1996  

• Homelessness Act 2002 

• Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 

• Housing and Regeneration Act 2008 

• Localism Act 2011 

• Armed Forces Act 2006 

• Asylum and Immigration Act 1996 

• Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 

• Children Act 2004 

• Equality Act 2010 

• Data Protection Act 2018 

• European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020 

• Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities 2018 

• Statutory Guidance 

• The London Housing Strategy 

• Tenancy Strategy 

• Housing Strategy 

• Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) (England) Regulations 
2006 

• Allocation of Accommodation: Code of Guidance for Housing Authorities June 
2012, last updated October 2023 

• Providing social housing for local people, December 2013 

• Right to Move and social housing allocations, March 2015 

• Improving access to social housing for victims of domestic abuse, November 

2018 

• Improving access to social housing for members of the Armed Forces, June 

2020 

• The regulatory standards for registered providers of social housing in England: 

 
 

1.2 Aims of the Allocation Policy 

 
The Allocation Scheme is designed to meet all legal requirements and to support and 
contribute towards Hillingdon Council’s wider objective of putting residents first. 
Hillingdon Council is also committed to preventing homelessness and the Allocation 
Scheme focuses on supporting residents to actively pursue suitable alternatives to 
avoid becoming homeless. 

 
The key objectives of this Allocations Scheme are to: 

 
• Provide a fair and transparent system by which people are prioritised for social 

housing. 
• Help those most in housing need. 
• Reward residents with a long attachment to the borough 
• Encourage residents to access employment and training 
• Make best use of Hillingdon’s social housing stock. 

Page 54



15  

• Promote the development of sustainable mixed communities. 

This policy has considered: 

• Hillingdon Council’s statutory obligation to provide Reasonable Preference to 
certain categories of applicants set down by law 

• The general and specific statutory discretions Hillingdon Council can 
exercise when allocating housing in support of its Council  Strategy. 

• Hillingdon Council’s statutory discretion to grant ‘additional preference’ 
and/or to determine priority between applicants with Reasonable 
Preference 

 
The social housing allocation system will be supported by a housing options 
approach giving applicants realistic advice and promoting other housing options. 

 
Hillingdon Council will register eligible applicants who qualify for the reasonable 
preference criteria and certain groups who meet local priority. In addition, Hillingdon 
Council will ensure that greater priority through ‘additional preference’ is given to 
applicants who have a long attachment to the borough, and members of the British 
Armed Forces. 

 
In addition, Hillingdon Council will continue to use the private rented sector both 
within the borough and outside it to meet its statutory housing obligations. It will use 
the private rented sector, as far as possible, to discharge its homelessness duty. 

 
Where Hillingdon Council believes that potential applicants are able to access 
market housing, that is, private rented or low cost or market home ownership, 
Hillingdon Council will provide advice as necessary. 

 

Hillingdon Council will take into account the impact of welfare policy which places a 
ceiling on the amount of cash benefits a household will be able to receive. In order 
to allocate a home, a household’s current and future ability to meet the rent and 
associated costs of running a home will be taken into account. 

 
Tenancies for Hillingdon Council homes are allocated according to Hillingdon 
Councils Tenancy strategy.  Other Registered Providers have to take account of the 
Councils Tenancy Strategy when setting their own policies. 

 
1.3 What is not included in the allocation policy 

 
The following are not allocations under this scheme: 

 
• Succeeding to a tenancy under S89 Housing Act 1985 
• A mutual exchange with another tenant 
• Assigning a tenancy 
• Transferring a tenancy in accordance with a court order under Family Law 

provisions or under the Civil Partnership Act 2004 
• An introductory tenant becoming a secure tenant 
• Provision of temporary accommodation in discharge of any homelessness duty 

or power 

 

Page 55



16  

 
2. ELIGIBILITY AND QUALIFICATION FOR HOUSING 

 
2.1 Eligibility Rules 

 
The first assessment Hillingdon Council makes when an application is received is 
whether the applicant is eligible for social housing. This depends on where the 
applicant normally lives (“habitual residence”) and their “immigration status”. 

 
Eligibility for social housing is assessed when an applicant first applies and it is 
looked at again when they are being verified for an offer of accommodation. 

 
A person is not eligible if they are: 

 

• subject to immigration control (with limited exceptions)  

•  classed as an ineligible person from abroad  

• A person not habitually resident in the United Kingdom  or required to leave the 
UK by the Secretary of State.  

Detailed information on eligibility for housing is set out in Annex 1. 
 
 

2.2 Qualification Rules 
 
The second assessment the council makes is whether an applicant qualifies to go on 
the housing register. The Localism Act 2011 has given new freedoms for local 
authorities to determine who can join the housing register. The Council has a 
number of qualification rules  in addition to the provision on eligibility in respect of 
persons from abroad set out in 2.1. 

 

This is  because the council: 
 

• Wants to make sure a more focused housing register is operated which 
better reflects local circumstances and can be understood more readily 
by local people 

• Believes that social housing should be available to people that cannot afford 
to buy or rent a home privately. 

• Wants to make sure housing policies benefit people that live in 
Hillingdon. 

 
The following sections explain the qualification rules: 

 
2.2.1 Households with no demonstrable housing need will not qualify to join 
the housing register. 

 

The Council will not maintain a housing register for those households that it is unable 
to help access a council or housing association home. This means applicants who 
are considered not to have a housing need will not qualify to join the housing 
register. 

 
It will help in managing unrealistic expectations by excluding people with little or no 
prospect of being allocated accommodation. They will be signposted and given 

Page 56



17  

relevant information and advice, including through the targeted housing options 
website at www.locata.org.uk/hillingdon. 

 

Exception 
People aged over 60 who would benefit from sheltered housing. However, they will 
be made an offer of sheltered accommodation after other households meeting the 
housing need criteria. 

 
2.2.2 Household with sufficient financial resources will not qualify to join 
the housing register. 

 
People with sufficient combined household income, savings and assets will not 
qualify to join the housing register: 
• Any household who owns or has an interest in a property. 
• Any household with a gross income at or above the level required for low cost 

home ownership. The current income level (as at June 2024) is £90,000.00.  
This income will be reviewed on an annual basis and adjusted to reflect the 
size of the household and market conditions. 

• Any household with savings/assets of more than £30,000 as they will be 
deemed to have enough financial resources to rent in the private sector. 
Deliberate disposal of assets in order to become eligible for an allocation will 
not be tolerated. 

All applicants and prospective new tenants will be required to supply evidence of 
their financial income and resources. Where applicants are not able to show current 
entitlement to income support, housing benefit, council tax benefit (and universal 
credit), verification of income and savings will be required, at the point of being 
offered accommodation and may be requested upon joining the housing register. 

 
Where applicants have resources considered sufficient to access low cost home 
ownership within the thresholds set above, they will normally be offered advice or 
assistance as they are considered to have the income to meet their own housing 
requirements. Advice on home ownership and private sector renting options will be 
offered including the opportunities to join the Council’s low cost home ownership 
register. 

 

Exceptions 
 

• Members of the British Armed Forces who receive lump sum payments as 
compensation for an injury or disability sustained on active service. 

• Members of the British Armed Forces or their former partners who remain in 
residence following the expiry of a notice to vacate Service Families 
Accommodation may be charged mesne profits for trespass and accordingly 
accrue a mesne profit debt.  In taking into account rent arrears or a housing 
debt in determining whether to allow qualification to join the housing register, 
the Council may treat the accrual of a mesne profit debt by a Member of the 
British Armed Forces or their former partner sympathetically. 

• Persons who fall within the reasonable preference groups. 

• Any household to be placed in extra care housing will not be subject to the 
savings/assets cap of £30,000. 

 

Page 57

http://www.locata.org.uk/hillingdon


18  

Households who do not currently live in the borough and fall within the reasonable 
preference groups may qualify to join the housing register under hardship grounds. 
Hardship grounds include: 

 
• The need to move to take up a confirmed offer of full time employment 
• To give or receive care or support from/to a resident in the borough (see section 

12.5.4) 
 
2.2.4 Households who have not been continuously living in the borough for at 
least 10 years will not qualify to join the housing register.  
 

Applicants will need to demonstrate a local connection with Hillingdon. Local 
connection within the terms of this scheme will normally mean that an applicant has 
lived in Hillingdon, through their own choice, for a minimum of 10 years up to and 
including the date of their application, or the date on which a decision is made on their 
application whichever is later.  
 
For purposes of continuous residence, children spending time away from home for 
education due to periods of study such as at university, and people who have moved 
away for up to 3 times years due to the requirements of their job will be disregarded. 
Secure, introductory or flexible tenants of Hillingdon Council and care experienced 
young people housed in or outside the borough will be considered as having a local 
connection with Hillingdon.  
 
People will also be considered as having a local connection with Hillingdon when they 
are placed in the borough of Hillingdon in temporary accommodation in accordance 
with sections 190(2), 193(2), 195(2) or who are occupying accommodation secured by 
any local authority under section 192(3). 
 
Exception:  
 

• People who have served in HM Forces in the last 5 years  
 

• People who are aged over 60 and currently live in the borough, but have done so for 
less than ten years. This exception applies for lettings in sheltered housing only and as 
a lower priority than  other households who meet the 10 year residency criteria.  
 

• People who are under-occupying their current social housing and are currently 
resident in the borough.  
 

• Emergency cases where homes are damaged by fire, flood or other disaster if it is not 
possible to repair the existing home, or if any work to repair is to take such a long 
period of time that there will be serious disruption to family life. 
 

 • Cases nominated under the Police Witness Protection Scheme or other similar 
schemes that the Council has agreed to be part of.  
 

• Statutorily homeless persons and other persons who fall within the statutory 
reasonable preference groups (see paragraph 12 below).  
 

• Households who need to move to the Borough to avoid hardship. Hardship grounds 

Page 58



19  

include:  
 

➢  The need to move to take up a confirmed offer of permanent employment  

➢  The need to move to specialist facilities where they receive care but live outside 

the Borough 

➢  The need to move to receive or give care/support (meaning higher care costs or 

even the use of residential care for those who cannot move)  

• People who are living in a refuge or other form of safe temporary accommodation in 
the borough having escaped domestic abuse in another local authority area.  
 

• Children spending time away from home due to periods of study such as at 
university. 
 

• People who have moved away for up to 3 years due to the requirements of their job. 
  

• People to whom paragraph 2.2.5 applies. 
 

• Social tenants who need to move to take up a job or live closer to work (Right to 
Move Regulations). 

 

• People who have moved away while being held on remand. 
 
2.2.5 Exception for certain Irish Traveller, Romany Gypsy or non-UK national 
households 
 

Compliant with the judgment of the Court of Appeal in R(Ward & Ors) v LB Hillingdon, 
Equality and Human Rights Commission intervening [2019] EWCA Civ 692, this 
paragraph applies to an applicant whose household is either Irish Traveller / Romany 
Gypsy or non-UK national with refugee status in the UK and who would qualify under 
this section for inclusion on the housing register, or once included be entitled under 
section 14.3 to additional preference, but for their inability to demonstrate at least 10 
years' residence in Hillingdon. If, in the opinion of the Council, such inability is the 
result of their racial origin or related circumstances or lifestyle, the residence 
requirement will in the case of each provision be reduced from 10 years to 5 years 
provided the applicant can demonstrate to the Council's reasonable satisfaction that 
they have for the whole or substantial part of that period made a community 
contribution such as helping borough residents, undertaking paid, unpaid or voluntary 
work in the borough or being a recognised carer for an elderly or disabled adult or 
child, or other special reason to be decided on a case by case basis by the Council.  
 
 

3. WHO CAN MAKE AN APPLICATION 

 
Hillingdon residents who are over 18 years old can apply to join the housing register 
through the Locata website at www.locata.org.uk. 

 
The council intends to ensure that all successful applicants have reasonable 
preference. In addition, the council has used its statutory discretion to determine 
groups of households who will be eligible for housing allocation. 

 

Page 59

http://www.locata.org.uk/


20  

The council will also give ‘additional preference’ to applicants who have a local 
connection (long attachment to the borough), . 

 

The Council will not normally grant a tenancy to anyone under the age of 18 years 
unless another adult is prepared to act as their guarantor and agrees to cover the 
rent or any arrears. In exceptional circumstances, the council can grant permission to 
occupy a property to an applicant under-18 years by way of something known as an 
equitable agreement. 
 
Capacity – For an applicant to become a tenant of the Council and enter into a 
tenancy agreement, they must have the mental capacity to understand the contract. 
If an applicant does not have the capacity to understand the contract, an application 
should be made to the Court of Protection for the tenancy agreement to be signed on 
their behalf. 
 

 

4. STATEMENT ON CHOICE 

 
The council operates a Choice Based Lettings Scheme through a central lettings 
agency known as ‘Locata’. Council, Housing Association properties and travellers' 
site pitches in Hillingdon available at social and affordable rent are let through the 
scheme. 

 
Households who are eligible to join the housing register are required to use the 
choice based lettings scheme (Locata) to obtain a new home. People who apply for 
housing through the council are divided into two main groups: 

 
o Homeseekers are households who are not currently social housing tenants but 

have applied for social housing. Households living in temporary accommodation 
are included in this group. 

o Transfers are existing Council and Housing Association tenants who want to 
move to another social housing property. 

 

4.1 Locata Housing Services - the central lettings agency 

 
Locata Housing Services (LHS) Ltd is a central lettings agency set up by West 
London local authorities and housing associations including Hillingdon Council to 
provide the computer program to manage the letting of available vacancies. 

 
 
 

  

Page 60



21  

5. HOW THE CHOICE BASED LETTINGS SCHEME WORKS 
 
5.1 Priority Banding 

 
Housing need is determined by assessing the current housing circumstances of 
applicants. A priority ‘band’ is then allocated according to the urgency of the housing 
need. There are fourteen priority bands as follows: 
 

Band 
1 

This is the highest priority band and is only awarded to households who 
are being decanted from their existing home and qualify for additional 
priority due to having 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon  

Band 
2 

As Band 1 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 
3 

This band is for under occupying social tenants moving to a property 
with fewer bedrooms and that qualify for additional priority due to 10 
years’ residence 

Band 
4 

As Band 3 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 
5 

This band is for households for which a management transfer has been 
agreed due to exceptional circumstances and that qualify for additional 
priority due to 10 years’ residence 

Band 
6 

As Band 5 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 
7 

This band is for households with an emergency and very severe 
housing need other than the needs covered by Bands 1 to 6 and that 
qualify for additional priority due to 10 years’ residence 

Band 
8 

As Band 7 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 
9 

This band is for households with an urgent need to move and that 
qualify for additional priority due to 10 years’ residence 

Band 
10 

As Band 9 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 
11 

This band is for households with an identified need to move and that 
qualify for additional priority due to 10 years’ residence 

Band 
12 

As Band 11 but without 10 years’ residence 

Band 
13 

Homeless applicants without 10 years’ residence who do not own a 
property or have savings over £30,000 

Band 
14 

Applicants within a Reasonable Preference category who own or have 
an interest in a property or have savings over £30,000 

 
 
Band A  -  This is the highest priority band and is only awarded to households with 
an emergency and very severe housing need. 

 
Band B - This is the second highest band and is awarded to households with an 
urgent need to move. 

 
Band C  -  This is the third highest band and is awarded to households with an 
identified need to move. 

Page 61



22  

 
Band D - Homelessness applicants who do not satisfy the 10 year continuous 
Residence Rule. 

 
If following an assessment, it is determined that an applicant has no housing need, 
they cannot join the housing register, they will be given advice and assistance on 
other housing options, for example, renting from a private landlord or applying to an 
intermediate rent or low cost home ownership scheme which will be available on the 
‘Targeted housing option’ website at  www.locata.org.uk/hillingdon. 

 
5.2 Priority Dates 

 
As the level of need within each ‘band’ is broadly similar, it is fairest to make an offer 
of social housing to the applicant that has been waiting the longest in that  ‘band’. 

This is known as a priority date order. The priority date is awarded either on the date of the original 
application or on the date the council is notified of a change in circumstances.  

Moving up a ‘Band ’  
The priority date is the date the higher priority is awarded. 

 
Moving Down a ‘Band ’  
New priority date reverts to the date that applied when the applicant was previously 
in that ‘band’ OR any earlier date when they were in a higher band. The principle is 
that when moving down, their priority date should be the earliest date that they were 
in the new lower band, or in a higher band. 

 
If the applicant has been suitably housed for any of the time, the new band date 
cannot be any earlier than the date they were subsequently assessed as a priority 
band.. 

Page 62

http://www.locata.org.uk/hillingdon


23  

Examples of priority date system: 

 
 

Example 1 Priority Date 

Household applies to register in January and is 
adequately housed. None 

In February household is awarded band 9 February 

In March household is awarded band 7 March 

In April household is downgraded to band 11 February 

 

 

Example 2 Priority Date 

Household applies to register in January and is awarded 
band 11 

January 

In February household is awarded band 7 February 

In April household is downgraded to band 9 February 

 

 

Example 3 Priority 
In April household is awarded medical priority band 11 April 
In May household is awarded urgent medical 
priority band 9  

May 

In June medical priority reduced again – band 11 April 
In June household is awarded emergency medical priority 

– band 7 June 

In August new medical assessment – band 9 May 

 

5.3 Property Advertising 

 
Vacant council and housing association properties are advertised on the West 
London Locata website (www.locata.org.uk) to people assessed as having housing 
need. The majority of council and housing association rented homes to which the 
council has nomination rights are advertised and let through this scheme. Available 
properties are advertised as they become ready for letting. 

 
In choosing which property to bid for, an applicant should look at the details as some 
properties advertised may have restrictions such as: 

• Properties subject to a sensitive let (See section 5.9) 
• Properties subject to a local lettings plan (see section 5.10) 
• Properties adapted for disabled applicants (See section 16.1) 
• Properties designated for people over a certain age e.g. older people 

accommodation or sheltered housing (See sections 16.2, 16.3 & 
16.4). 

• Properties designated to a particular group of households, for 

Page 63

http://www.locata.org.uk/


24  

example, homeseekers (H) or transfers (T) only. 

Where restrictions are applied, details will be given on the advert. 
 
Circumstances in which direct offers may be made by by-passing the Locata process 
are set out in section 6. 

 
5.4 Bidding for a property (expressing an interest) 

 
Hillingdon residents are entitled to bid for properties advertised in the “Hillingdon” 
section of Locata and the “cross borough” section. In addition, Hillingdon residents 
can bid for properties advertised by several housing associations that have social 
rented accommodation in the borough. The housing associations always give priority 
to applicants who are registered with them directly, so it is advantageous for 
Hillingdon applicants who are interested in housing association properties to register 
directly with each provider as well. 

 
Each household may bid for up to 3 properties in each week. 

• If a property is designated for a specific type of household, only those who 
match the household type will be eligible to bid for that property 

• Any bids must be placed before the deadline closes 

• The applicant’s household must match the advert specification, for example, the 
household must not have more or less household members than the number 
specified on the property label 

• The applicant must satisfy the age requirement on the property label where 
applicable 

• The applicant must satisfy the mobility level specified on the property 
label. 

 

Help with bidding: 

 
A detailed guide of how to bid for properties is sent out to all new applicants when their application to 
join the register is approved.  

The Council can help  vulnerable applicants, who have no support mechanisms to bid 
via automatic bidding. For example, older, people with a sensory disability and people 
with no or low literacy or English comprehension. Such applicants can self refer or 
referrals can be made on their behalf by GPs, an MP, and Councillor etc. 

 

If households are not engaging in the process or are considered to be unreasonably 
refusing properties or not attending viewings, this service can be withdrawn. 

 
Other support agencies or social workers can also bid on behalf of an applicant that 
they are supporting. Training can be provided to such agencies if required. 

 
There are two types of service available: 

 
• Automatic Bidding - The applicant specifies the area and type of property they 

are interested in and staff can automatically place bids on up to 3 properties 
matching their description every week . 

• Assisted Bidding - The applicant can contact our customer contact centre 
each week when properties are advertised and get help with making a choice 

Page 64



25  

• on the property they are interested in and/or talk through the process with 
them by supporting them to place their bids. 

 
5.5 Short-listing 

 
Once bidding has closed, all households that placed a bid and are eligible for that 
property are placed into priority band and date order. This is called the shortlist.  

 

If a property has been advertised with preference for a specific group of applicants, 
bids from these households will be prioritised above all other bands. Bids placed from 
households within the specific priority group will still be short listed according to their 
band and priority date as above. Applicants will not be short listed or offered a 
property if they already have a live offer on another property. 
 
The Council will only let properties in high risk buildings to applicants who can 
demonstrate that they are able to self-evacuate from the building, unaided and within 
a reasonable time frame, on being ordered to do so by the fire and rescue services. 

 
5.6 Offers of accommodation: 

 
The applicants at the top of the shortlist for a property are contacted by the housing 
provider and offered an appointment to view the property. At the viewing the 
applicants have a chance to look around the property and ask any questions of the 
landlord. 

 
If the household offered the property accepts it, they are formally invited to sign for 
the tenancy. If the household offered the property refuses the property, it is offered to 
the next household until such time as the property is accepted. If no one on the 
shortlist within the priority bands accepts the property, the property is either re-
advertised or directly allocated to another household. 

 
If there are more than one successful bidders for a property, the offer is made to the 
applicant with the longest waiting time (known as priority date). 
 

 
5.7 The effect of choices on waiting times: 

 
The length of time you have to wait before you get an offer is affected by the choices 
you make on your housing application. If you choose an area or a type and size of 
property that rarely becomes available to offer, you will face a much longer wait than 
an applicant who is prepared to consider a broad range of areas and types of 
property. 

 
We will assist you in making an informed choice by providing information on property 
availability and average waiting times. This information is published on the council’s 
website. 

 
5.8 Feedback on let properties 

 
Details of every property let in Hillingdon are available at www.locata.org . The 

Page 65

http://www.locata.org/


26  

website shows the number of households that bid for each property, as well as the 
priority band and registration date of the successful bidder. 
 
There is also feedback on all properties let through Locata in the Freesheet archive 
of the Locata Home website. The feedback enables applicants to gauge the scarcity 
and popularity of different areas and property types, to be able to judge how long 
they might have to wait to be re-housed, and therefore exercise informed choice. 

 

5.9 Ringfenced lettings 

In cases where specific action has been taken to release homes, the resulting 
vacancies will be made available to particular client groups. For example: 

• Homes recovered due to fraud activity, will be offered to accepted homeless 
households in temporary accommodation. 

• Homes released by under-occupying households will be offered to overcrowded 
households in a chain of lettings. 

 
5.10 Sensitive lettings 

 
On occasions it is in the interest of residents and tenants that an individual property is 
let sensitively in light of the experience of neighboring tenants. Where a request for a 
sensitive let is sought, this will be considered. 

 
Sensitive lets will only be agreed where it can be demonstrated that: 

 
• The neighbouring tenants have experienced either harassment, noise nuisance 

or un-tenant like behavior over a period of time or of an excessive nature and 
• Incidents have been recorded and 
• Action has been taken by the landlord or 
• There is a public protection issue that must be managed. 

 
5.11 Local lettings policies 

 
On new developments or acquisitions, the Council usually may agrees a local 
lettings policy for the new or newly acquired council homes or with the another 
Provider (mainly Registered Providers) that is building or acquiring the new social 
housing. The A local lettings policy can ensures that there is a balancesd mix of 
social tenants and help to mitigates any potential management problems and 
achieve specific council aims for the development.. at a later date. To ensure the 
balance is achieved, the Council may bypass applicants who have placed bids for 
the property. A number of factors may be considered including: 

 
A number of factors are considered which includes: 

 

• The Mmix of working and non- working households  

• Child density 

• Age range of the prospective tenants 

• Ethnicity and community cohesion 

• Vulnerability and support services 

• Community facilities provided. 

Page 66



27  

• Perpetration of anti-social behaviour 

• Supporting and promoting neighbourliness and existing community 
relationships 

 
In order to ensure the balance is achieved, the Council may bypass applicants who 
have placed bids for the property. 

 

The Council will also have local lettings policies in place in respect of the regeneration 
of Avondale Estate and Hayes Town Centre Estate which will for the avoidance of 
doubt extend to the rehousing of residents affected by regeneration to properties 
outside of the areas being regenerated. Potential future regeneration schemes would 
also likely have local lettings arrangements. 
 

The following factors which the Council will consider in addition to those set out in 
paragraphs 5.11.1 and 5.11.5 above are: 
 

5.11.1 Perpetration of anti-social behaviour 
5.11.2 Supporting and promoting neighbourliness and existing community 

relationships 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



28  

6. ALLOCATION OUTSIDE CHOICE BASED LETTINGS 

 
In certain specified cases, an allocation may be made outside of the choice based 
lettings scheme.  These are: 

 

• Extra care housing. 

• Where a household urgently requires an adapted property. 

• Where vulnerable applicants are unable to participate effectively in the bidding 
system, or where they have specific accommodation needs. 

• Where there is a recommendation from police, social services or other 
professional agencies for a type of accommodation to meet an individual need. 

• Where no successful bids are received for an advertised property. 
• Where an applicant has been unfairly bypassed for a property. 
• Where a household have succeeded to a tenancy but are under-occupying or 

do not need adaptations or specialised accommodation. 
• Where homeless households have failed to bid successfully for available 

properties and the lease on their temporary accommodation has ended, they 
will be made one direct offer of suitable accommodation. 

• Where homeless households have been in temporary accommodation for 
longer than the average period, they will be made one direct offer of suitable 
accommodation. 

• Where service tenants entitled to re-housing have not bid successfully for a 
suitable home by the time they are required to leave their accommodation, 
they will be made one direct offer of suitable accommodation. 

• Where a management transfer has been agreed, the tenant will be made one 
direct offer of suitable accommodation. The size of the accommodation will be 
the same as their previous tenancy, or a size that meets their needs under the 
terms of this policy, whichever is smaller. 

• Where a reciprocal arrangement has been agreed, the incoming household 
will be made one direct offer of suitable accommodation. 

• Where an applicant needs to move immediately, for example, tenants being 
decanted to enable a major repair to the property to be carried out or tenants 
being decanted where their area is being regenerated by the Council. One 
direct offer of suitable accommodation may be made 

• Ex-tenant discharge from an institution. One direct offer of suitable 
accommodation will be made. The size of the accommodation will be the same 
as their previous tenancy 

• Where lettings to certain groups is required in order to achieve a balance of 
lettings.  Periodically this may be set out in a lettings plan. 

• Where special allocation arrangements through local lettings plans on 
new developments are in place in order to achieve a balanced 
community. 

Page 68



29  

7. REFUSALS FOLLOWING DIRECT OFFERS 
 
7.1 Recording the refusal 

 
The applicant must give their reasons for refusal in writing or sign a written 
statement of their reasons. The property will not usually be held vacant while the 
reasons for the refusal are considered – it will normally be offered and let to another 
applicant unless the offer is to a homeless household. In such cases, the offer may 
be held for a short period (usually no longer than 48 hours) while the reason for the 
refusal is considered. The applicant will be advised of the possible consequences 
and given a chance to reconsider their decision to refuse. 

 
7.2 Unsuitable offers 

 
If there is a clear mismatch of the applicant and property details, the offer will be 
withdrawn and the rights of the applicant will not be affected. 

 
7.3 Consequences for refusing reasonable offer 

 
(a) Homeless household 

If the offer is considered to be suitable, the applicant will be informed of the 
council’s intention to discharge its homelessness duty and if they are occupying 
temporary accommodation provided by the council, to commence eviction 
proceedings. They will be advised of their right to seek a review of this decision 
and, if still not satisfied to pursue their disagreements through the courts. 

 
(b) Service tenants 

Following refusal of a reasonable offer, ex-service tenants will be advised that 
their priority for re-housing has been withdrawn and that the council considers it 
has  fulfilled its contractual obligation to offer suitable re-housing. The 
applicant will be advised to make their own housing arrangements and eviction 
proceedings from the tied accommodation will be started. 

 
(c) Management transfer 

Following refusal of a reasonable offer, tenants will be advised that their high 
priority has been removed. Their housing need will be reviewed and if 
assistance is still required, they will be placed in the appropriate priority ‘band’ 
on the waiting list, for example, as a homeless applicant. The relevant housing 
manager will be informed. 

 
(d) Reciprocal arrangements 

Following refusal of a reasonable offer, applicants will be advised that their 
priority for re-housing  has  been  withdrawn  and that the council considers it 
has fulfilled its reciprocal agreement to offer suitable re-housing. The 
applicant will be advised to seek help from their own provider/landlord. 

 
(e) Temporary/permanent decant 

Following refusal of a reasonable offer, the relevant housing manager will be 
advised so that they can commence possession proceedings. 

Page 69



30  

(f) Ex-tenant discharge from an institution 

Following refusal of a reasonable offer, tenants will be advised that their priority 
has been removed. If they require assistance, they will advised to reapply and 
their housing need will be assessed and if deemed to be in housing need, they 
will be placed in the appropriate priority ‘band’ on the waiting list for example, as 
a homeless applicant. The relevant housing manager will be informed. 

 
g) Other circumstances 

Following refusal of a reasonable offer, applicants will be advised that no further 
direct offers will be made and they can continue to access housing by bidding 
through choice based lettings. 

 

 
8. PRE-OFFER VERIFICATION CHECKS 

 
Qualifying or being eligible to join the housing register does not guarantee an offer of 
accommodation. Verification checks will be carried out prior to an applicant receiving 
an offer of accommodation. Households will not be verified if they are found to fall 
within one of the criteria set out below. This means that they will not be made an offer 
of accommodation even if their bid for a property has been successful. 

 
The circumstances are: 

 
a) Any applicant who is no longer eligible or qualifies for housing. 
b) Council tenants who have a current application to buy their dwelling or for a 

home purchase grant such as Homebuy. 
c) Any applicant who owes more than 4 weeks rent or other housing debts 

including temporary accommodation arrears, former tenant arrears, and council 
tax arrears. They will not be verified unless they have an agreement to reduce 
the arrears in place and have been making regular payments to reduce the 
outstanding amount for a minimum of six months at the time of offer. 

d) Any applicant or member of their household who has perpetrated serious anti- 
social behaviour where either a possession order is being sought or has been 
obtained, or where the antisocial behaviour is of a level which would warrant 
eviction. They will not be verified unless they demonstrate a change for a 
minimum of 12 months at the time of offer. 

e) Any applicant or member of their household who has given false or misleading 
information on their housing application or has withheld information that has 
been reasonably requested. 

f) Any applicant or tenant who has not maintained their property in accordance 
with the terms of their tenancy will be required to make good any damage. 

g) Any applicant or member of their household who has been convicted of housing 
or welfare benefits related fraud where that conviction is unspent under the 
Rehabilitation Offenders Act 1974. They will not be verified unless this 
conviction is spent. 

h) Any applicant or member of their household who has assaulted a member of 
staff and an injunction is being sought or has been obtained. 

 

Information from the following sources will be checked, but are not limited 

Page 70



31  

to: 
 

• Information held by the Council e.g. housing benefit, electoral roll, council tax 
records. 

• Information held by the Council’s community safety team for any un-tenant like 
behaviour. 

• Information held by other local authorities, landlords or registered providers.  
 

• Land registry and credit reference checks. 

• Information from neighbours, employers, Social Services and other agencies . 
 
The council will also carry out unannounced visits to check the details provided about 
all household members and occupation of their current accommodation. Where 
necessary, the household will be asked to provide evidence to support their 
application. If the applicant is not available, a card requesting the applicant to make 
contact with the council within 24 hours will be left so that the visit can be rearranged. 
If the  applicant fails to respond and a follow up visit is not carried out 
within 48 hours, the applicant will not be verified for the property they have 
successfully bid for and they will be removed from the shortlist for that property. 

 
9. LETTINGS PLAN 

 
In order to strike the right balance of allocations to the different groups and manage 
the cost of homelessness, the Council, may set out requirements in a an annual 
lLettings pPlan will be in place. It will be published every year, andWhere this is the 
case, lettings made will be monitored against this. All lettings made under this 
scheme are counted for the purposes of the lettings plan. If monitoring shows that 
the allocation target set out in the plan is not being achieved, the council reserves 
the right  to enhance access by advertising or directly allocating some 
properties to specific groups. 

 
The plan will contain an estimate of the supply of homes which will be available for 
letting each year including new homes due to be completed and existing homes to be 
re-let. It will also set out the proportion of the available lettings that will go to each of 
the groups identified to have housing need. 

 
It will be ensured that a reasonable proportion of allocations are provided to the 
people with high level of assessed housing need, for example those who meet 
reasonable preference criteria. Itand it will be ensured that one group does not 
dominate the scheme. 

 
In cases where specific action has been taken to release homes, the resulting 
vacancies will only be ring-fenced to particular groups. For example, homes 
recovered as a result of fraud activity may be allocated to homeless households; 
homes released by under occupiers allocated to overcrowded households in a chain 
of lettings. 

Page 71



32  

10. APPLYING FOR HOUSING 

10.1Tackling Fraud: 

The Council recognises its duty to protect the public resources it administers. 
Detailed enquiries about applications will therefore be made in order to guard against 
misrepresentation and fraud. Such enquiries will be made in all cases where 
applicants appear to have sufficient priority for an offer of accommodation, and in 
other cases as resources allow. The enquiries will be made at any time and it can be 
at the time of application or subsequently, including after any grant of tenancy. 
Applications will be suspended if there is evidence of misrepresentation of fraud until 
enquiries are completed. These checks may involve cross referencing information 
provided by applicants when they apply to the housing register with other data the 
Council holds, including information on housing and council tax benefit and the 
electoral roll. 

 

 

10.2 Who can be included on the application? 

 

Pursuant to this Allocation Policy the Council determines the priority between 
applicants for the offer of tenancies of social housing from within the Council’s own 
housing stock and of those premises owned by Housing Associations in respect of 
which the Council has the right to nominate tenants.  

 

The Council must offer appropriately sized accommodation to applicants and their 
households. The size of accommodation that is offered to applicants depending on the 
composition of their eligible household is set out in Section 11 below.  

 

This paragraph sets out who the Council will take in to account in determining the size 
of any applicant’s household. There are two basic criteria which the Council has regard 
to in determining whether or not someone is to be counted as a member of your 
household:  

 

(1) First to be a member of your household a person must be a member of your family 
(although the definition of family is a loose one); and  

(2) Second, there must be a relationship of dependency between you and the person; 
this could mean that you are dependant on that person, or that they are dependant on 
you, or that they are dependant on another eligible member of your household. For this 
purpose, dependency includes legal, financial and physical dependency.  

 

For the avoidance of any doubt, just because someone is living with you currently and 
is a member of your family, that does not mean that the Council will treat them as a 
member of your household for the purposes of this Allocation Policy.  

 

People in the following categories will be regarded by the Council as part of an 
applicant’s household:  

 

• An applicant’s spouse or civil partner or someone with whom the applicant lives 
as if they are a spouse or civil partner;  

• An applicant’s children (or the children of another eligible member of the 

Page 72



33  

applicant’s household) aged less than 18 where the applicant (or the eligible 
member of the applicant’s household who is the child’s parent) is the sole legal 
guardian and there is no other available legal guardian who could reasonably 
accommodate the children.  

• An applicant’s children who are over 18 but are in tertiary education doing their 
first degree (or similar) – but not any subsequent courses and who either live 
with the applicant all year because the education institution they are at is local 
or return to live with the applicant during holidays;  

• Dependent relatives of the applicant who are unable to live independently and 
there are no other suitable options available to accommodate them.  

• Live-in carers where an applicant is confirmed to have an essential need for 
live-in care, for example where they need overnight support (if a live-in carer is 
not your relative the Council will require evidence that they have been a carer 
for at least 2 months).  

 

10.3 Who should not be included on the application? 

 

The Council will not include in your household for the purposes of determining the size 
of accommodation that you should be offered account anyone in any of the following 
categories even if they are currently living with you:  

• Children aged 18 or over (unless they come within one of the categories of 
dependent adult identified in paragraph 10.2 above; i.e., a student or a carer or 
cared for adult)  

• Other adult relatives  

• Friends or visitors  

• Lodgers  

• Sub-tenants  

• Anyone else sharing your current accommodation  

• Anyone who falls within legislation prohibiting them from having recourse to 
public funds.  

 

10.4 Change of circumstances: 

 

The size of accommodation that you can bid for on through Locata is determined by 
the size of your household. It is possible that the size of your household might change 
before you make a successful bid for accommodation on the Locata website. For 
example, you may have another child, in which case your household size will increase, 
or a child who is under 18 at the time of your application may have their 18th birthday, 
in which case (unless that child is within one of categories of dependant adult) your 
household will decrease. These are not the only circumstances in which your 
household size can change but are examples of circumstances in which your 
household size will change.  

 

Each time you log on to Locata to place a bid you will be asked whether anything about 
your application has changed and to update your contact details. It is important that the 
Council and other housing providers have the most up to date information.  

 

Once placed in a priority band, you must notify the Council in writing of any change in 
your circumstances that will or might affect your priority for housing, for example:  

 

Page 73



34  

 

• A change of address for themselves or any other person on the application.  

• Any additions to the household for the purposes of the application.  

• Any member of the family or any other person on the application who is no 
longer a member of the applicant’s household.  

• Any change in income or savings  

• Applicants may be temporarily suspended from bidding while the council 
assesses the information provided by the applicant and completes further 
enquiries that may be necessary.  

 

If you make a bid on the Locata website and are shortlisted for a property, the housing 
provider will check that your household size is appropriate for the premises; the 
appropriate size of accommodation for different sized households is set out in Section 
11 below.  

 

If you are offered and accept a tenancy of any premises through the Locata website 
and it is subsequently discovered that you made any misrepresentation about the size 
of your household, that may give rise to a Ground for Possession. This is the case 
whether you are granted a Council Tenancy or a Housing Association Tenancy. 

 

 

 
10.2 Who can be included on the application? 

 
You can include any household member who is part of and living in the household. 
Includes: 

 
• Partners, spouses or civil partners of the main applicant. 
• Children aged less than 18 where the main applicant is the sole legal guardian 

and there is no other available legal guardian who could reasonably 
accommodate the children. 

• Dependent relatives who are unable to live independently and there are no 
other suitable options available to accommodate them. 

• Live-in carers where an applicant is confirmed to have an essential need for a 
carer, for example overnight support. 

 
10.3 Who should not be included on the application? 

 
You should not include any of the following people currently living with you 
on your application: 

 

• Non-dependent adult children 
• Other adult relatives 
• Friends or visitors 
• Lodgers 
• Sub-tenants 
• Anyone else sharing your current accommodation 
• Anyone who falls within legislation prohibiting them from having 

recourse to public funds. 
 
10.4 Change of circumstances: 

Page 74



35  

 
Each time an applicant logs on to Locata to place a bid they are asked whether 
anything about their application has changed and to update their contact details. It is 
important   that the Council and other housing providers have the most up to date 
informat ion.  

Page 75



36  

Once placed in a priority band, applicants should notify the Council in writing of any 
material change in their circumstances that will affect their priority for housing, for 
example: 

 
➢ A change of address for themselves or any other person on the application. 
➢ Any additions to the family or any other person joining the application. 
➢ Any member of the family or any other person on the application who 

has left the accommodation. 
➢ Any change in income or savings 
➢ Applicants may be temporarily suspended from bidding while the council 

assesses the information provided by the applicant and completes further 
enquiries that may be necessary. 

 
10.5 What happens if I do not notify you of a change? 

 
If the Council find your circumstances have changed as a result of the annual review 
of your application, or as part of the pre-offer verification checks and you have not 
notified the change, your application will be suspended from bidding while we 
investigate how the changes affect your eligibility and housing priority. 

 
10.6 Annual Review: 

 
In order to maintain the housing register as accurately as possible, every applicant 
will be sent a notification to renew their application annually on the anniversary of 
their registration. Included in this will be a request to provide information on any 
changes in circumstances. 

 
After a renewal request has been issued, no reminders will be sent. If an application 
is not renewed within 28 days of the issue of the renewal letter, the application may 
be cancelled without further notice. 

 
10.7 Cancelling an application 

 
We will cancel your housing applications for the following reasons: 

 
• If you ask us to cancel the application. 

• If your circumstances change and you are no longer eligible under the 
scheme . 

• If your circumstances change and you no longer qualify under the 
scheme. 

• If you fail to respond to an application review within the specified time 
limit. 

• If you have refused the offers of social housing you are entitled to 
under this scheme. These are set out in section 7 above. 

• If you have accepted an offer of social housing under this scheme. 
• If you have been found to have made a false statement on your 

housing application. 

 
You will be notified in writing if the council intends to remove you from the 

Page 76



37  

Housing Register and give reasons for the removal. 

 
10.8 Reinstating a cancelled application: 

 
Sometimes applications are cancelled where the household has a valid reason for 
not providing the information the Council has asked for or not responding to a 
request. In cases where a household’s application has been cancelled, as long as 
the applicant makes contact within 28 days from the date of the cancellation, their 
application will be reinstated to the housing register. Supporting evidence will be 
required. 

 
If an application is cancelled but the household does not make contact within 28 days 
from the date of cancellation, the application will not be reinstated. If the household 
still wants to apply for social rented housing they will have to make a new application 
which will be assessed based on the criteria in the scheme and a new banding and 
priority date will be given. 

 
10.9 Appealing against a decision 

 
Applicants have the right to ask for a review of any decision made under the terms of 
this policy with which they do not agree. 

 
Requests for a review must normally be made: 

• In writing ( a request over the phone or made verbally will need to be confirmed 
in writing) 

• Within 21 days of the date of the decision being appealed. 
 
 
11. ASSESSMENT OF HOUSING NEED AND DETERMINING PRIORITY 

 
11.1 Initial assessment 

 
The Council will make an assessment based on the information provided in the 
application or received in connection with the application. You will be notified in 
writing about the outcome of the assessment which will include the priority band 
awarded and the date. 

 
Your application will remain in this band until it is verified at the time of offer of 
accommodation. It is therefore in your interest to ensure that you provide the council 
with accurate and up to date information so that an offer of accommodation is not 
withdrawn at a later stage (offer stage). 

 
11.2 Bedroom standard - size of accommodation 

 
The size of accommodation for which each applicant will be considered will depend 
on the composition of the applicant’s household. The requirements for each size of 
household are set out below: 

Page 77



38  

 

SIZE OF FAMILY SIZE OF PROPERTY 

Single person including single pregnant person Bedsit/1 bedroom 

A couple without children, including if pregnant   1 bedroom 

Two adults of the same sex and generation, for example flat 
sharers or two brothers 

2 bedrooms 

A couple and an adult son or daughter under 20 and another 
child of the same sex  

2 bedrooms 

A couple with two children of the same sex 2 bedrooms 

Two adults of opposite sex who do not live as a couple, for 
example brother and sister 

2 bedrooms 

A couple with two children of opposite sex and both under ten 
years old 

2 bedrooms 

A couple with two children of opposite sex, one of whom is 
over ten years old 

3 bedrooms 

A couple with three children 3 bedrooms 

A couple with four children (all of the same sex or two of each 
sex) 

3 bedrooms 

A couple with two children of the opposite sex under 10 years 
and one dependent relative (for example, widowed mother 

3 bedrooms 

A couple with four children (three of one sex and one  of the 
opposite sex, where the child of the opposite sex is over 
ten) 

4 bedrooms 

A couple with four children (three of one sex and one of the 
opposite sex, where the child of the opposite sex and one of 
the other children are under ten) 

3 bedrooms 

A couple with more than four children 4 bedrooms 

A couple with three children and one dependent relative 4 bedrooms 

Foster children over three years of age will be entitled to a 
separate bedroom in line with the fostering service national 
minimum standards 
 

Any 
 

 

 

Larger accommodation than specified above may be considered in exceptional 
circumstances on the recommendation of a specialist advisor, for example the 
Council’s Medical Adviser or Occupational Therapy Service. 

Overcrowded households with a four bedroom need can bid for and be let a 
property with one bedroom fewer than their assessed needthree bedroom property, 
so long as this does not result in them being statutorily overcrowded. Any household 
taking advantage of this option is able to reapply for a transfer to a property with the 
correct number of four bedrooms for their assessed need. home. This would be 
treated as a new application in terms of both banding priority and priority date.   

 
In calculating the number of bedrooms available within properties, the Council will 
treat every habitable room as a bedroom except kitchens, bathrooms and one room 
for use as a living room. The Council will normally consider additional downstairs 

Page 78



39  

rooms in houses for use as bedroom in accordance with Housing Benefit 
Regulations. 

 
In the case of existing secure council tenants agreed for a management transfer due 
to extreme circumstances such as violent assault, harassment etc, who are able to 
move to alternative accommodation as the only viable resolution to their current 
difficulties, for fairness to other applicants on the housing register, these moves will 
only be to the same size of accommodation as they currently occupy regardless of 
their housing need at that time. 

 

It is important that you notify the Council of any changes in the size or make-up of your 
household because the size and make-up of your household determines the size of the 
premises that you are entitled to bid for on the Locata website. If you fail to update the 
details and are offered a tenancy of premises that are not appropriate for the size and 
make-up of your household the Council may withdraw the offer of the tenancy if your 
failure is discovered before you have signed the tenancy and if the offer is withdrawn you 
may be suspended from the Locata website for a period of time. If you fail to update the 
details and are offered a tenancy of premises that are not appropriate for the size and 
make-up of your household and you take up the offer of the tenancy the Council or if the 
landlord is a housing association that Housing Association may rely on that failure as a 
ground for possession of the premises. 

 

 
Shared residency of children 
 

Where children are subject to a shared residency arrangement, the children are only 
considered to need one home of adequate size. 

 

Split families 

Where the family unit is not currently residing together, the assessment will be based 
on the part of the household that occupies accommodation that provides them with the 
most suitable housing providing there is a reasonable expectation that they should 
reside together. 

 
Additional priority based on residency criteria will be based on that part of the 
household with the longest residency in the borough. 

 

12. REASONABLE PREFERENCE GROUPS 

 
The council will maintain the protection provided by the statutory reasonable preference 
criteria in order to ensure that priority for social housing goes to those in the greatest 
need. The majority of applicants are placed on the housing register due to having a 
reasonable preference for housing. 

 
12.1 Homeless households 

 
This section applies to people who are homeless within the meaning of Part 7 of the 
Housing Act 1996 (amended by the Homelessness Act 2002, the Localism Act 2011 
and the Homelessness Reduction Act 2017) or, in certain circumstances, are 
threatened with homelessness or otherwise owed a relevant Part 7 duty. 

Page 79



40  

 
A person is threatened with homelessness for these purposes if they have applied for 
Part 7 assistance and are likely to become homeless within 56 days or, if occupying 
accommodation under an assured shorthold tenancy, have been served with a valid 
notice under section 21 of the Housing Act 1988 expiring within 56 days. 
 
A relevant Part 7 duty means for these purposes an accommodation duty owed to a 
Part 7 applicant who is eligible for assistance and either (i.) has a priority need and has 
become homeless intentionally, (ii.) has a priority need and has not become homeless 
intentionally, or (iii.) does not have a priority need, has not become homeless 
intentionally and Hillingdon Council has elected to secure that accommodation 
becomes available for their occupation.  
 
Hillingdon Council's first priority, pursuant to its duties and powers under the 
Homelessness Reduction Act 2017, is to prevent people from becoming homeless by 
helping them to remain in their current accommodation or facilitate a move to 
alternative private rented accommodation.  Where Hillingdon Council believes that 
potential applicants are able to access market housing i.e. private rented or low cost 
home ownership, the Council will provide advice and assistance as necessary. 

 
The Localism Act 2011 has given local authorities the power to discharge duty to 
homeless households into the private sector and outside of local boundaries where it is 
not reasonably practicable to accommodate them within the borough. Therefore the 
council will use suitable and affordable private rented sector accommodation to 
discharge its homelessness duty where it considers this to be appropriate. This will 
apply to homeless applicants who applied after 9 November 2012. 

 
Where Hillingdon Council has been unable to prevent homelessness, applicants who 
satisfy the 10 year Qualification Rule in paragraph 2.2.4 of the Policy secured by 
Hillingdon Council under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 will be placed in one of the 
following bands:- 

 
❖ Band A7 – In temporary accommodation secured by the Hillingdon Council 

but the landlord wants the property back AND the council cannot find 
alternative suitable temporary accommodation. Where an applicant fails to 
successfully bid within 6 months, a direct offer of suitable accommodation 
will be made. If the property is refused the council will discharge its duty 
under Part 7 of the Housing Act and withdraw any temporary 
accommodation provided. 

❖ Band B 9 – In Bed & Breakfast (for the purpose of this policy 
Bed & Breakfast means nightly paid accommodation), council 
hostel accommodation or women’s refuge. 

❖ Band C 11– In other forms of temporary accommodation or has no 
accommodation.  

 

Where, in relation to persons to whom this section applies, Hillingdon Council has 
been unable to prevent homelessness, applicants who do not satisfy the 10 year 
Qualification Rule in paragraph 2.2.4 of this Policy will be placed in Band D13. 
However, a Single Homeless Move on Panel may award applicants in supported 
accommodation provided for single homeless people a Band 7 to facilitate move-on 
through the homelessness pathway and ensure that the needs of those who are 
particularly vulnerable are met. The panel will consider each referral individually to 

Page 80



41  

determine whether to award priority for social housing. 

 

 

Applicants threatened with homelessness for the purposes of this section, whether or 
not they satisfy the 10 year Qualification Rule in paragraph 2.2.4 of this Policy, will 
also be placed in Band D7. 
 

12.2 Households living in insanitary and unsatisfactory housing conditions 
 
A household is living in insanitary housing if their current accommodation does not 
have: 

 
• A bathroom or a kitchen. 
• An inside toilet. 
• Hot or cold running water. 

 
A household is living in unsatisfactory housing if their current accommodation: 

 
• Does not have electricity or gas. 

• Does not have adequate heating. 

• Is in disrepair. 

• Is unfit for human habitation. 

• Has a category 1 hazard under the Housing Health and Safety Rating system 
that is an immediate threat to health and cannot be rectified within six months 
– this will be verified by a Private Sector Housing Environmental Health Officer. 

 
There are some properties in Hillingdon with repair problems or are in need of 
improvement and modernisation. The council will not be able to offer alternative 
accommodation to everyone in this situation as most landlords have a duty to carry 
out repairs to their tenants’ homes. Sometimes tenants are worried that asking for 
work to be done will make the relationship with their landlord difficult and that they 
may be asked to leave. The council will give advice about this and can offer help in 
working with the landlord. 

 
The Council’s aim is to ensure that repairs are carried out and that residents can 
remain in their property. Wherever possible, any repairs problems identified in 
applications will be dealt with by working with the person with the responsibility to make 
sure that repairs are carried out. In limited circumstances, a household may be re-
housed due to disrepair problems. 

 
The condition of the current accommodation will be checked by a member of the Private 
Sector Housing Environmental Health team and must have at least one category 1 
hazard that cannot be resolved by the landlord within 6 months. Examples of where this 
would apply include where the current accommodation: 

 

• Has severe damp 
• Has a major structural defect including subsidence, flooding, collapsed roof 
• Has been issued with a notice of statutory nuisance by an Environmental 

Health Officer 
•  

 

Page 81



42  

Has been declared unfit for human habitation and is due to be demolished under the 
Housing Act 2004. 
 

Based on the circumstances, applicants will be placed in one of the following bands:- 
 

• Band A 7 with 10 years’ residency or 8 without – Closing Order issued, i.e. 
property is unfit for human habitation and there is no alternative measure to 
render the property fit as advised by Environmental Health Officer OR 

• Where emergency re-housing is essential, for example, compulsory purchase 
order (CPO) is issued. 

• Band B9 with 10 years’ residency ofr 10 without– Household with dependent 
children living in unsanitary or unsatisfactory housing that cannot be 
addressed by Environmental Health action. 

• Band C 11 with 10 years’ residency or 12 without – Other unsanitary or 
unsatisfactory housing conditions that cannot be addressed by Private Sector 
Housing Environmental Health action. 

 

12.3 Overcrowded households 

 
A household is living in overcrowded housing if their current accommodation is too 
small for the size of their family. 

 

The number of bedrooms a household needs will be based on the bedroom standard 
outlined in section 11.2. 

 
The priority awarded to a household will depend on each household’s circumstances 
and the level of overcrowding they are experiencing. 

 
 

❖ Band B9 with 10 years’ residency or 10 without – Statutorily 
overcrowded as defined in Part X of Housing Act 1985 OR 

Severe overcrowding – where a household is lacking 2 or more 
bedrooms. 

❖ Band C11 with 10 years’ residency or 12 without - Other overcrowded 

households lacking 1 bedroom. 
 
 
12.4 Medical grounds 

 
If you apply for housing because your current accommodation affects a medical 
condition or disability, your application will be referred to the council’s medical adviser or 
occupational therapy team depending on what you have put in your application for 
assessment. A medical condition or disability includes, for the avoidance of doubt, a 
mental ill health condition. 

 
Medical assessment does not examine how severe an applicant’s medical condition or 
disability is. It looks at how your current accommodation affects the health or disability 
of a household member. The assessment is based on whether your health or a member 
of your household’s health would improve by moving to alternative accommodation.  
 
Therefore, medical priority is awarded according to the extent to which the health or 

Page 82



43  

welfare of one or more members of the applicant’s household is affected by their 
current housing conditions and the expected benefits of providing suitable alternative 
settled housing. 

 

Applicants will complete a Medical Assessment Form to provide details of the medical 
condition and other supporting information. If additional information is required before 
a decision can be made, this will be obtained at the a cost to the council. 

 

Based on the Medical Adviser’s recommendations, applicants will be placed in one of 
the following bands:- 

 
❖ Band 7A with 10 years’ residency or 8 without – Emergency Medical: the 

applicant or a member of the applicant’s household has a life threatening 
condition that is seriously affected by their housing. 

❖ Band 9B with 10 years’ residency or 10 without – Medical Hardship: the 
applicant’s current housing conditions are having a major adverse effect on 
the medical condition of the applicant or a member of the applicant’s 
household. 

❖ Band C11 with 10 years’ residency or 12 without – Medical Need: the applicant’s 
current housing conditions are having a moderate or variable adverse effect on 
the medical condition of the applicant or a member of the applicant’s household. 
 

12.5 Welfare grounds  
 

12.5.1 Persons fleeing domestic abuse 
 

The Council recognises the particular need for support and assistance for 
those escaping from domestic abuse required in order that they can re-build 
their lives away from abuse and harm.  Priority will therefore be given to those 
who are homeless within the meaning of Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 (as 
amended) and require urgent housing as a result of domestic abuse. 
 

Band B` 9 with 10 years’ residency or 10 without 
 
 
 

12.5.2 Care Experienced Young People 
 

If a young person who has been looked after by Hillingdon council is ready to 
move into their own accommodation, they may be considered for housing on 
welfare grounds. This includes those placed out of the borough. To qualify, the 
young person must have been a relevant child under the Children Leaving 
Care Act 2000, which means they would have been looked after by the council 
for a certain period of time and have had a pathway plan drawn up. 

 
In most cases young people leaving care will be ready to move into independent living 
with the support of Hillingdon’s Social Care service. If the young person is ready to 
move- on and has developed the required life skills, such as managing a budget, 
cooking and cleaning, the council will support them to find suitable private rented 
accommodation. 

 

Page 83



44  

For some young people whose support needs are high and accommodation in the 
private rented sector would have a detrimental effect on their transition to independent 
living, their housing application will be considered by a Panel (Care Experienced Young 
People’s Panel) who will determine whether to award priority for social housing. 

 
The Panel consists of senior officers from Housing and Social Care Services. The panel 
assesses each referral individually to ensure the needs of any particularly vulnerable or 
at- risk young person is addressed. 

 

To be considered for social housing, the care experienced young person must meet 
one or more of the following criteria: 

 
▪ Young people subject to Care Orders under section S31 of the Children Act 

1989 where the council has parental responsibility (Looked after children). 

▪ Young people with moderate learning difficulties or disability or those who 
are subject to a statement of educational needs or a psychological 
assessment.  

▪ Young people with significant mental health issues – who have had involvement 
with CAMHS or CMHT for a period of three months or longer and are continuing to 
receive treatment. 

▪ Young people with complex needs placed in high cost placements 

`where they no longer require that degree of support and whose 
application has been approved by the ‘Access to Resources Panel’ or 
the ‘Asylum High Cost Placement Panel ' . 

▪ Young people with significant offending behaviour, which limits access to 
other types of suitable accommodation. 

▪ Care experienced young people who are also parents and also meet 
one other criteria listed (e.g. they or their baby are especially 
vulnerable). 

▪ Those with other mitigating circumstances. 
 

❖ Band B  7 with 10 years’ residency or 8 without 
❖  – Care  leaver experienced young person approved by Panel 

 
12.5.3 Fostering and adoption 

The council recognises the contribution that foster carers and adopting parents make 
towards ensuring that children in Hillingdon are cared for. Priority will be given to those 
applicants approved or being assessed for approval to adopt or foster and where 
recommendation is made by Social Services to provide accommodation because the 
current accommodation is not large enough or would cause overcrowding. 

 
Tenancies offered will be in accordance with the tenure terms set out in the council’s 
tenancy policy. 

 
❖ Band A7 with 10 years’ residency or 8 without – Enabling fostering and adoption 

 
Foster children over three years of age will be entitled to a separate bedroom in line with 
the fostering service national minimum standards. This is done to prevent the potential for 
bullying or abusive behaviours from or to other children. This also allows for some 
stability, privacy and space for the fostered child. 
 

Page 84



45  

12.5.4 Move-on from Supported housing 

In collaboration with Social Services and other agencies, clients placed in supported 
housing who are ready for independent living will be considered for move-on 
accommodation. This includes people in institutional care, for example, group homes 
and other forms of supported housing to help them achieve independence. 

 
Applicants referred for move-on to independent accommodation will be considered for 
the full range of provision available, including private sector accommodation to meet 
their housing need. Only cases with a demonstrable need for long term settled 
accommodation will be prioritised for social housing. The referral will explain the 
current living arrangements and the impact they are having on the individual’s 
transition to independence. 

 

❖ Band B 7 with 10 years’ residency or 8 without – Ready for independent living 
(after a minimum of 6 months) 

 
 

12.6 Hardship grounds 

There are a number of households applying to the housing register who experience 
serious hardship because of a combination of different factors which make the need for 
re-housing more urgent than when considered separately. 

 
The decision as to the appropriate priority ‘band’ will depend on both the combination 
and degree of the various factors with a view to ensuring that the greatest priority is 
given to those in the greatest need. 

 
In circumstances where this applies, a panel of officers (Hardship Panel) will undertake 
a review of the case to determine whether priority for re-housing is necessary. 

 
The following priority banding will be considered 

❖ Band B8 with 10 years’ residency or 9 without – The applicant or a 
member of their household has multiple needs or has an urgent need 
to move. Examples include: 

• To give or receive care or support from/to a resident in the 
borough, avoiding use of residential care. It is constant care 
to/from a close relative as evidenced by a professional’s report 
and supported by the Council’s Medical Adviser; 

• Child protection reasons; 

• The need to move to take up a confirmed offer of permanent 
employment; 

• Other urgent welfare reasons. 

 
❖ Band C10 with 10 years’ residency or 11 without – Out of 

borough applicants with a need to move to Hillingdon for 
medical or support reasons. 

 
Priority will not be given to those who need to move to a particular locality 
within the borough if the transport network is considered to be good. 
 

 

Page 85



46  

13 LOCAL PRIORITIES 
 
In addition to statutory reasonable preference groups, the council will provide housing 
assistance to certain groups who meet local needs and priorities. 

 
13.1 Members of the British Armed Forces 

This policy applies to people who have served in the Royal Navy, Royal Air Force and 
British Army and have not been dishonorably discharge. 

• Members of the Armed Forces and former service personnel where the 
application for housing is made within 5 years of discharge. 

• Serving or former members of the Reserve Forces who need to move because of 
serious injury, medical conditions or disability which is wholly or partially 
attributable to their service. 

• Bereaved spouses or civil partners of members of the Armed Forces leaving 
Services Family Accommodation following the death of their service spouse or 
partner and the death was wholly or partially attributable to their service. 

 
❖ Band B 8 – Members of the British Armed Forces. 

 
Members of the British Armed forces who have continuously resided in the borough for 
10 years prior to signing up for the service and have not been dishonorably discharged. 

Band 7 A. 
 

 

13.2 Specific schemes 

Hillingdon participates in various schemes that assist welfare agencies and others 
where there is imminent personal risk to the applicant or their family if they remain in the 
property or area. 

 

The schemes include: 
 

• National Witness mobility scheme (to enable those testifying in major criminal 
trials to be in a safe area). 

• Pan-London Safe and Secure scheme (to tackle gang violence). 
 

• West London Domestic Violence protocol (enables victims of violence to move to 
a safe area). 

Applicants from outside the borough will be accepted under these schemes on the 
understanding that Hillingdon residents in similar circumstances will be eligible to 
benefit from the schemes. 

 
❖ Band A 7– Schemes set out above or similar as agreed by the Council. 

 
13.3 Under-occupation 

A household is considered as under-occupying when the accommodation has more 
rooms available than the household needs. 

 

❖ Band A3 with 10 years’ residency or 4 without – Giving up 1 or more bedrooms. 
 

Under-occupying tenants will be given a higher priority than other Band A applicants in 
terms of their rehousing other than those affected by regeneration proposals.  

 

Page 86



47  

 
13.4 Releasing adapted property 

The council has a small number of properties that are specifically adapted for disabled 
or older people. These properties are in short supply, therefore council and Housing 
Association tenants, who currently live in adapted accommodation but no longer need 
it, are given priority to move to suitable non-adapted accommodation. 

 
❖ Band A 7 with 10 years’ residency or 8 without – release adapted property. 

 
13.5 Decants 
a) PermanentRegeneration/essential/urgent  decant 
Council tenants who urgently need to move because their home is imminently required
 to be demolished or for essential works to be undertaken within 3 months. 
and the tenant will not be returning, for example, to enable development of the site. In 
these circumstances, they will be prioritised for a move to a suitable alternative home. 

 
Council or Registered Social Landlord tenants who need to move because their home 
has become temporarily uninhabitable, for example, because of a fire, flood or other 
factors should approach their own landlord if they require temporary accommodation 
while repairs are carried out to their home. 

 
b) Temporary Other decant 
Council or Registered Social Landlord tenants who need to move because their home 
has become temporarily uninhabitable, for example, because of a fire, flood or the 
factors should approach their own landlord if they require temporary accommodation 
while repairs are carried out to their home. 

 
 

If major works of a less urgent nature are to be carried out, council tenants may be 
offered alternative accommodation and will have the option of returning to their original 
home once the works have been completed. 

 
❖ Band A 1 with 10 years’ residency or 2 without – Permanent Ddecant required 

to progress regeneration or essential/urgent works. 

❖ Band B 9 with 10 years’ residency or 10 without – Temporary Other decant. 

 

Tenants permanently decanted as a result of a Council regeneration programme will be 
given a higher priority than other Band A applicants in terms of their rehousing. 

 
13.6 Management transfer 
A management transfer will be considered for an existing social tenant where there is 
demonstrable evidence to support imminent personal risk to the tenant or their family as 
a result of violence or harassment if they remain in the property. They will be made one 
suitable direct offer of accommodation. The size of the accommodation will be the same 
as their previous tenancy., or a size that meets their needs under the terms of this 
policy, whichever is smaller. 

 
❖ Band A5 with 10 years’ residency or 6 without – Management transfer 

emergency such as domestic violence or harassment. 

Page 87



48  

 
Tenants eligible for a management transfer will be given a higher priority than other Band 
A applicants in terms of their rehousing other than downsizing under-occupiers those 
affected by regeneration proposals.  

 
13.7 Reciprocal request 
The council will only agree to reciprocal requests from other authorities and Registered 
Providers where they can demonstrate that there is an imminent personal risk to the 
tenant or their family and accommodation is required in Hillingdon. And that the 
reciprocal property being offered will be beneficial to Hillingdon residents with high 
priority to move. 

 

Reciprocal requests will not be accepted from West London Locata partners who 
can use the cross partner bidding arrangements. 

 
Where a reciprocal arrangement has been agreed, the incoming household will be 
made one direct offer of accommodation. 

 
❖ Band A 7 with 10 years’ residency or 8 without – Reciprocal agreement for 

emergency such as domestic violence or harassment. 

 
13.8 Ex-tenant discharged from an institution 
Where a council tenant enters an institution such as hospital or is imprisoned or is in a 
rehabilitation establishment for a period of more than 6 months and would therefore 
either accumulate rent arrears or possibly lose their tenancy, they can voluntarily give 
up their tenancy. 

 
Alternative accommodation can be offered upon release in order to make the best 
use of the council’s housing stock by offering the accommodation to someone in need 
instead  of keeping the accommodation empty for lengthy periods. 

 

Upon release they would be made a direct allocation of a property that meets their 
needs. The size of the accommodation will be the same as their previous tenancy, or a 
size that meets their needs under the terms of this policy, whichever is smaller. 

 

This will not apply to tenants who have been imprisoned in relation to a crime that would 
enable the council to seek repossession of their accommodation or where possession 
action has already commenced. 

 
❖ Band B9 with 10 years’ residency or 10 without – By agreement to 

relinquish council tenancy on entering an institution. 
 
13.9 Relinquishing more than one property 
Applications for transfer may be made jointly by separate tenants who wish to apply for 
housing together, on the condition that both tenancies will be relinquished if the council 
makes an acceptable offer of a transfer to a third property. 

 
❖ Band B 9 with 10 years’ residency or 10 without – By agreement to relinquish 

two separate social properties in return for one property 
 

Page 88



49  

13.10 Service tenants where there is a contractual obligation 

Employees of the Council who have a service tenancy associated with their 
employment may be re-housed in certain circumstances where the council has a 
contractual obligation to re-house, for example on retirement, redundancy or 
redeployment.  

 
Where service tenants entitled to re-housing have not bid successfully for a suitable 
home by the time they are required to leave their accommodation, they will be made one 
suitable direct offer of accommodation. 

 

❖ Band A7 with 10 years’ residency or 8 without – Ex-service tenant. 

 
14 ADDITIONAL PRIORITY 

 
Additional priority is awarded in order to determine priorities between people in the 
reasonable and local preference groups. ItPriority is awarded in the following 
circumstances: 

 
14.1 Members of the British Armed forces who have continuously resided in the 
borough for 10 years prior to signing up for the service and have not been 
dishonorably discharged. 

Band A. 
 
14.2 Couples aged over 21 without children. 

Additional priority is awarded to couples aged 21+ without children. This will improve 
access to available lettings to those households without children who would otherwise 
be in ‘Band C’. 

 
This policy applies to all couples including same sex partnerships where: 

• They are aged 21 – 55. 

• They have not had children. 

• If co-habiting, they should have been doing so continuously for 12 months at the 
time of application. This will be verified through the electoral roll or council tax 
records. 

 

Eligible couples will be required to sign a joint tenancy. 

 
If the couple do have a child after making the application, the additional priority will be 
revoked and the housing need only ‘priority band’ will be reinstated. 

 
❖ Band B – Couples aged 21+ without children. 

 
14.314.1 10 years’ continuous residency 
Additional priority is awarded to those who have a local connection by living in the 
borough continuously for a minimum period of ten years. This will support stable 
communities and reward households who have a long term attachment to the borough. 

 
Local connection will normally mean that an applicant has lived in Hillingdon, through 
their own choice, for a minimum of 10 years up to and including the date of their 
application, or the date on which a decision is made on their application whichever is 
later. 

Page 89



50  

 

For purposes of continuous residence, children spending time away from home for 
education due to periods of study such as at university and people who have moved 
away up to 3 timesyears due to the requirements of their job will be disregarded. 

 
People will also be considered as having a local connection with Hillingdon when they 
are placed in the borough of Hillingdon in temporary accommodation in accordance 
with sections 190(2), 193(2), 195(2) or who are occupying accommodation secured 
by any local authority under section 192(3). 
 
Band 1 where would otherwise be Band 2 
Band 3 where would otherwise be Band 4  
Band 5 where would otherwise be Band 6 
Band 7 where would otherwise be Band 8 
Band 9 where would otherwise be Band 10 
Band 11 where would otherwise be Band 12 
 

 
 
❖ Band A – where the household’s housing need is ‘Band B’ + 10 year 

res idence . 
❖ Band B – where the household’s housing need is ‘Band C’ + 10 year 

residence. 
 

14.4 Working households 

Additional priority will be given to households who are in housing need and are working 
but are on a low income which makes it difficult to access low cost or outright home 
ownership. This will encourage people who can, to work and raise levels of aspiration 
and ambition. 

 
This policy applies to households where: 

 

• At least one adult household member is in employment. 

• The employment should be a permanent contract, self-employment or part-time 
for a minimum of 24 hours per week. 

• The worker should have been in employment for 9 out of the last 12 months. 
Verification will be sought at the point of application and at the point of offer. 
Applicants must provide payslips, P60, bank statements or a verifying letter on 
headed paper in order to quality. 

 
❖ Band A – where the household’s housing need is ‘Band B’ + working. 

• Band B – where the household’s housing need is ‘Band C’ + working. 
Members of the British Armed forces who have continuously resided in the 
borough for 10 years prior to signing up for the service and have not been 
dishonorably discharged. 

Band A. 
 

15. ENCOURAGING PERSONAL RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Some applicants do not actively participate by bidding for available properties or 
continuously refuse properties that they have successfully placed bids on. The 
following will encourage personal responsibility from the applicants when exercising 

Page 90



51  

their right to choose properties through the Choice Based Lettings scheme. 
 

15.1 Homeless households living in temporary accommodation 

Homeless households take longer to be housed than other households in similar 
priority bands. In order to ensure that they actively participate in choice based 
lettings, one direct offer of suitable accommodation will be made to those households 
who have been living in temporary accommodation longer than other households with 
the same bedsize need. If the offer is unreasonably refused, the council will discharge 
its duty under Part 7 of the Homelessness Act and withdraw any temporary 
accommodation provided. The average waiting time by bedsize will be published 
annually on the Hillingdon Council website. 

 
15.2 All applicants - unreasonable refusal of offers 

All applicants who successfully bid for properties but refuse more than 3 reasonable 
offers within a 6 month period will be suspended from bidding for a period of 6 months. 

 
 
16. SPECIALIST ACCOMMODATION 

16.1 Disabled Adapted Properties 
Housing which has been designed or adapted for use by tenants with a disability will be 
allocated to a person who has been assessed as needing that particular type of 
accommodation even if there are other applicants (without a disability) in higher bands   
or with an earlier priority date. 

 
Each application will be awarded a mobility category and properties will be advertised 
as suitable for applicants from those categories: 

 
DSL 1: Applicants who are full-time wheelchair users (indoors and outdoors). 
DSL 2: Applicants who need a property which is wheelchair accessible but 
who may not use a wheelchair indoors (cannot manage steps/stairs and 
may use a wheelchair some of the time). 
DSL3:  Applicants who have  some  mobility   needs  e.g. can  only 

manage one or two steps/stairs. 
 

Applicants are restricted to bid for properties that match their assessment need. In 
exceptional circumstances where an adapted property is urgently required, a suitable 
property may be directly allocated outside of the Choice Based Lettings system. 

 
16.2 Older Person Dwellings 
Hillingdon has a number of properties that are designated for people aged over 55 
years who can live independently. These units are advertised through the Choice 
Based Lettings system (Locata). Applicants can bid for these properties in the normal 
way as long as they meet the age criteria specified in the advert. 

 
Older Person Dwellings are restricted either for people aged over 55 (these are 
usually flats) or in a few cases for people aged over 60 (these are usually 
bungalows.). 

 
If a couple would like to be considered for the property,  the main applicant must meet 
the age criteria specified. Partners aged under 55 years are permitted to live at the 

Page 91



52  

schemes but will not be permitted to be a joint tenant until they reach the minimum age 
for the accommodation. 

 
16.3 Sheltered Housing 

 

Due to the specific nature of sheltered housing, additional criteria will apply. The criteria 
for allocating sheltered housing will be based on the following: 

 

• The applicant is over 60. 

• Has a recommendation for sheltered housing from a social or health care 
agency or has requested sheltered housing. 

• Sheltered housing could assist the applicant in maintaining independent living 
and 

• The lifestyle would be compatible with general use of the scheme. 
 

 

If a couple applies to a scheme, both household members must meet the age criteria. 
Some Registered Providers accept applications for their sheltered schemes from 
those aged 55 years. 

 
Applicants suitable for sheltered housing are placed in priority ‘band C11 with 10 years’ 
residency or 12 without’ unless they qualify for a higher band for other reasons. The 
‘band C11 or 12’ will only apply to bids on sheltered properties. They can only bid on 
any general needs or older person’s property, if they have other identified housing 
needs. 

 
If the applicant’s care and support needs are considered too high for sheltered 
accommodation, the case will be referred for consideration for Extra Care 
Accommodation. 

 

16.4 Extra Care 

Extra care housing aims to provide a home for life for older people by providing 
appropriate housing, care and support and makes the best use of available resources. 
A tenant may move into a scheme with low support needs but can access further care 
as and when the need arises as they get older instead of residential care. 

 
Extra care housing is allocated outside of the Locata choice based lettings scheme by 
a panel of representatives from Housing, Health and Social Services. All referrals to the 
panel must have a community care assessment which identifies any care and/or 
housing related support needs. Occupancy and allocation of new units is based on the 
level of need of existing tenants and potential tenants in order to maintain a balanced 
mix of support needs. 

 
16.5 Allocation of traveller pitches 
Traveller pitches are allocated in the same way as general needs properties. 
Households applying for pitches must complete a housing register application form 
and provide the required evidence of identify. Where there are medical grounds for 
re- housing, medical evidence must be provided for assessment. 

 
The pitches are advertised on Locata and are allocated in accordance with this scheme. 
 

Page 92



53  

 
 
17. MOBILITY WITHIN AND ACROSS THE COUNCIL’S BOUNDARY 

 
17.1 West London Cross Borough Moves 
A small percentage of vacancies are made available to applicants living in any of the 
Locata partner local authority areas. 

 
17.2 Pan-London Mobility (Housing Moves) 

Hillingdon Council participates in pan-London Mobility (PLM) arrangements and 
contributes a small percentage of the properties that become available to be let through 
the scheme. The scheme facilitates moves by council and housing association tenants 
to other parts of London. 

 
Homes under this scheme are allocated according to the PLM allocations scheme rules 
and not the rules outlined in this scheme. Full details of the PLM scheme can be found at  
www.london.gov.uk. 

 
Existing tenants of Hillingdon Council can make transfer applications through PLM to be 
considered for vacancies in other London local authorities. 

 
17.3 Seaside and Country Scheme 

Hillingdon Council participates in the Seaside & Country scheme operated by the 
Greater London Authority (GLA) which enables social tenants in London to move out to 
desirable seaside and countryside towns. 

 
17.4 Mutual Exchanges 

Allocations under this scheme are not included in this policy. However, the scheme 
offers an option for existing tenants to exchange with other social housing tenants and 
obtain alternative accommodation suitable for their needs. 

 
Social housing tenants can also register on Homeswapper to find details of other 
households who they may be able to swap homes with: 
http://www.homeswapper.co.uk/ 

 

17.5 Tenancy successions and assignments 
This is not included in this policy. For details, refer to the Council’s Tenancy Policy.  

 
18. SCHEME IMPLEMENTATION ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The scheme applies with immediate effect  

 
19. CHANGES TO THE SCHEME 

 
The council reserves the right to expand, change or alter any element of the 
scheme, as and when required, to meet changes in housing need, capacity, 
resources and legislation. 

 
A review of the policy will be carried out periodically. 
 

Page 93

http://www.london.gov.uk/
http://www.homeswapper.co.uk/


54  

 
 
 

 
 

20. MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL, STAFF MEMBERS AND THEIR RELATIONS 

 
In order to ensure that the council treats all applicants fairly, any applications for 
housing or re-housing from Members of the council, employees of the council, any 
members of their family or household, and any other associated persons must be 
disclosed. These applications are assessed in the normal way but prior to any offers of 
accommodation being made, the case will be reviewed and approved by the senior 
designated officer. 

 
Applications where no disclosure is made will be referred to the council’s Fraud 
Investigations Team for investigations and where appropriate, legal action will be taken. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



42  

 

Appendix 1: SUMMARY TABLE OF PRIORITY BAND AND DATE 
 

Band 1 with 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon and Band 2 without 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon 

Case Type Defining features of applicant or circumstances in which 
the band applies. 

band Priority Date 

Tenants Home Seekers 

Regeneration / 
essential / urgent  
decant 

 Council tenants who need to move because their home 
is required to be demolished or for essential works to be 
undertaken within 3 months. 

1 or 2 Date 
approved. 

 
 

Band 3 with 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon and Band 4 without 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon 

Case Type Defining features of applicant or circumstances in which 
the band applies. 

band Priority Date 

Tenants Home Seekers 

Under 
occupation 

 Applicant is willing to move to smaller property by giving 
up 1 or more bedrooms. 

3 or 4 Date 
approved. 

 
 

Band 5 with 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon and Band 6 without 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon 

Case Type Defining features of applicant or circumstances in which 
the band applies. 

band Priority Date 

Tenants Home Seekers 

P
age 95



43  

Management 
Transfer e.g. 
emergency 
harassment, 
domestic 
violence 

Reciprocal 
agreement for 
tenants of 
housing 
associations or 
other local 
authorities. 

Agreed in exceptional circumstances due to significant 
problems associated with the tenant’s occupation of a 
dwelling and there is imminent personal risk to the 
tenant or their family if they remain in the dwelling. 

5 or 6 Date 
approved. 

 

- Band 7 with 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon and Band 8 without 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon 

- Case Type - Defining features of applicant or circumstances in 
which the band applies. 

- band - Priority 
Date 

- Tenants - Home Seekers 

-  - Homeless 
households 
owed a 
relevant part 7 
duty by 
Hillingdon 
Council as 
defined at 
Section 12.1 

- In temporary accommodation secured by Hillingdon 
Council under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 but the 
Landlord wants the temporary accommodation 
property back AND the council cannot find alternative 
suitable temporary accommodation 

- 7 or 8 - Date 
approv
ed. 

- Insanitary or 
unsatisfacto
ry housing 

- Insanitary 
or 
unsatisfact
ory housing 

- 1. Closing Order issued (i.e. Properties unfit for human 
habitation where there is no alternative measure to 
render the property fit) as advised by Environmental 
Health. 

- 7 or 8 - Date of 
Closing 
Order or 
equivalent 

- 2. Where emergency re-housing is essential e.g. 
Compulsory Purchase Order issued to enable site 
clearance for a road-widening scheme. 

- Emergency 
medical 

- Emerge
ncy 
medical 

- 1. Granted in exceptional circumstances, where the 
applicant or a member of the applicant’s household has a 
life- threatening condition, which is seriously affected by 
their current housing. 

- 7 or 8 - Date 
approv
ed 

- 2. Granted to hospital bed-blockers i.e. applicant 
occupying hospital bed because they cannot return to 
their previous accommodation as it is unsuitable for 
medical reasons. 

P
age 96



44  

 
Enable 
fostering/ 
adoption 

Enable 
fostering/ 
adoption 

Where agreement has been reached to provide accommodation 
on recommendation of Social Services and the current 
accommodation is not suitable or would cause overcrowding. 

7 or 8 Date 
adoption or 
fostering is 
approved 

Release 
adapted 
property in 
order to 
make best 
use of 
adapted 
stock. 

 Adapted properties are in short supply. Where it is no longer 
required, priority is given for the tenant to move to suitable non- 
adapted accommodation. 

7 or 8 Date 
approved 

 Specific 
schemes 
agreed by the 
council 

Where there is imminent personal risk to the applicant or their 
family if they remain in the property or area: 

7 or 8 Date 
approved 

 British 
Armed 
Forces 

Members of the British Armed Forces and have not been 
dishonourably discharged (Royal Navy, Royal Air Force and 
British Army) 

7 or 8 Date 
approved 

 Young 
People 
leaving 
care. 

Agreed at Care Experienced Young People’s panel that 

applicant needs social housing to meet their ongoing support 
needs. 

7 or 8 Date 
approved 
by Panel. 

P
age 97



45  

 Move-on 
from single 
homeless 
supported 
housing 

Agreed at Single Homeless move-on panel that applicant needs 
social housing 

7 or 8 Date 
approved 

 Move-on 
from other 
supported 
housing 

Ready and approved for independent living (after a minimum of 6 
months). Includes institutional care, supported housing or hostels 
and group homes 

7 or 8 Date 
approved 

 Ex-
service 
tenants 

Ex-service tenants e.g. caretakers or sheltered wardens who 
have to leave their home on retirement, redundancy or 
redeployment, where the council has a contractual obligation to 
rehouse. 

7 or 8 Date informed 
of retirement, 
redundancy or 
redeployment 
by personnel 

 

Band 9 with 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon and Band 10 without 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon 

Case Type Defining features of applicant or circumstances in which 
the band applies. 

Band Priority Date 

Tenants Home 
Seekers 

 Homeless 
households 
owed a 
relevant Part 7 
duty by 
Hillingdon 
Council as 
defined at 
section 12.1  

Homeless households accommodated in Bed & Breakfast, 
council hostel accommodation or women’s refuge. 

9 or 13 Date of 
homelessness 
acceptance. 

P
age 98



46  

 Those who are 
homeless 
within the 
meaning of 
Part7 of the 
Housing Act 
1996 (as 
amended). 

 
Require urgent rehousing as a result of domestic abuse. 

 
9 or 13 

 
Date approved 

Insanitary 
or 
unsatisfact
ory 
housing for 
dependent 
children. 

Insanitary or 
unsatisfactory 
housing for 
dependent 
children. 

1. Households with dependent children living in unsanitary 
or unsatisfactory housing that cannot be addressed by 
Environmental Health action. 

9 or 10 Date 
approved 

2. People with children who are living in Colley House 
which was purpose-built for single people 

Statutory 
or severe 
overcrowd
ing 

Statutory or 
severe 
overcrowding 

1. Statutory overcrowding as defined in Part X of Housing 
Act 1986 

9 or 10 Date 
approved 

2.   Where a household is lacking two or more bedrooms 9 or 10 Date 
approved 

Medic
al 
(includ
ing 
mental 
health) 
hardsh
ip 

Medical 
(including 
mental 
health) 
hardship 

Where an applicant’s or a member of the household’s current 
housing conditions are having a major adverse effect on their 
medical condition. It will not apply where the effect of housing 
conditions on health is comparatively moderate, slight or 
variable. 

9 or 10 Date 
approved 

   

P
age 99



47  

 
Hardship 
grounds 

Hardship 
grounds 

Urgent need to move agreed by Hardship Panel in liaison with 
other welfare agencies: 

9 or 10 Date 
approved by 
Panel. 

To give or receive care or support, for example: Where rehousing 
of a relative or friend will directly lead to the discharge of a resident 
from care. 

For child protection reasons, for example: Where the household 
includes a child or young person for whom the council has a duty 
under the Children Act 1989 and rehousing is an essential element 
in fulfilling that duty. 

Need to move to take up a confirmed offer of permanent 
employment 

Where a household has more than one serious need and when 
combined, it has a major adverse effect on their current housing 
condition 

     

Other 
decants 

 If major works of a less urgent nature are to be carried out, 
council tenants may be offered alternative accommodation and 
will have the option of returning to their original home once the 
works have been completed. 
 

9 or 10 Date 
approved 

 Ex-tenant 
discharged 
from 
institution 

Where a commitment has previously been made in order that such 
tenants relinquish their council tenancy on entering the institution 

9 or 10 Date new 
housing 
application 
approved 

P
age 100



48  

 
Relinquishing 
more than 
one property 

 Where an agreement has been reached for two tenants to 
relinquish their separate tenancies in return for one property 

9 or 10 Date 
approved 

P
age 101



49  

 
Band  11 with 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon and Band 12 without 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon 

Case Type Defining features of applicant or circumstances in which the 
band applies. 

Band Priority Date 

Tenants Home 
Seekers 

 Homeless 
Households 
owed a 
relevant Part 
7 duty by 
Hillingdon 
Council as 
defined at 
section 12.1 
not included 
in A or B, or 
other 
homeless 
households 
or those 
threatened 
with 
homelessnes
s and owed a 
duty under 
section 
195(2) 
Housing Act 
1996 (as 
amended)  

Accepted homeless who are in other forms of temporary 
accommodation or has no accommodation. 

11 or 13 Date of 
homelessness 
acceptance or 
date approved. 

Unsanitary or 
unsatisfactory 
housing 
conditions. 

Unsanitary or 
unsatisfactory 
housing 
conditions. 

Unsanitary or unsatisfactory housing conditions that cannot be 
addressed by Environmental Health action. 

11 or 12 Date 
approved 

P
age 102



50  

Overcrowding Overcrowding Overcrowded households lacking one bedroom. 11 or 12 Date 
approved 

Medical (incl. 
Mental 
health) 
hardship 

Medical (incl. 
Mental 
health) 
hardship 

Where an applicant or member of the household’s current housing 
conditions are having a moderate effect on their medical condition. 

11 or 12 Date 
approved 

Hardship 
grounds 

Hardship 
grounds 

Out of borough applicants with a need to move to Hillingdon for 
medical or support reasons. 

11 or 12 Date 
approved by 
Panel. 

Older 
residents 
approved for 
Sheltered 
housing 

Older 
residents 
approved for 
Sheltered 
housing 

Applicants over 60 years old that have applied only for sheltered 
accommodation and have no other reason warranting a higher 
band. 

11 or 12 Date 
approved 

 
Band13 without 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon 

Case Type Defining features of applicant or 
circumstances in which the band 
applies. 
 

Band Priority 
Date 

Tenants Home Seekers 

 Homeless 
households 
owed a relevant 
Part 7 duty as 
defined in 
section 12.1 

In temporary accommodation 
secured by the Council under 
Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 
but the Landlord wants the 
temporary accommodation 
property back and the Council 
cannot find alternative suitable 
temporary accommodation 

13 Date 
approved 

P
age 103



51  

 Homeless 
households 
owed a 
relevant Part 7 
duty as defined 
in section 12.1 
by Hillingdon * 

Homeless households 
accommodated in Bed & Breakfast 
Council hostel accommodation or 
woman's refuge  

13 Date of 
homelessness 
acceptance 

 Homeless not 
included in 
either of the 
above 
categories 

Accepted homeless who are in other 
forms of temporary accommodation, 
or has no accommodation, including 
those owed a prevention or relief 
duty. 

13 Date of 
application 

 

 
Band14 without 10 years’ residence in Hillingdon 

Case Type Defining features of applicant or 
circumstances in which the band 
applies. 
 

Band Priority 
Date 

 Homeseeker Within a reasonable preference 
group and own or have an interest 
in a property and have savings  
over £30,000 

14 Date of 
application 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 104



52  

 

ANNEX 1 

 

People ineligible for an allocation of accommodation by the Council 

The Allocation of Housing and Homelessness (Eligibility) England Regulations 2006 set 

outs the eligibility criteria  for allocation of housing accommodation. 

Persons from abroad 

A person may not be allocated accommodation under Part 6 if he or she is a person from 

abroad who is ineligible for an allocation under s.160ZA of the 1996 Act. There are two 

categories for the purposes of s.160ZA:   

(i) a person subject to immigration control - such a person is not eligible for an 

allocation of accommodation unless he or she comes within a class 

prescribed in regulations made by the Secretary of State (s.160ZA(2)), and   

 

(ii) a person from abroad other than a person subject to immigration control -  

regulations may provide for other descriptions of persons from abroad who, 

although not subject to immigration control, are to be treated as ineligible for 

an allocation of accommodation (s.160ZA(4)). 

 

Persons subject to immigration control   

The term ‘person subject to immigration control’ is defined in s.13(2) of the Asylum and 

Immigration Act 1996 as a person who under the Immigration Act 1971 requires leave to 

enter or remain in the United Kingdom (whether or not such leave has been given).   

The provisions of section 7(1) of the Immigration Act 1988 and the Asylum and 

Immigration Act 1996 have been saved for the purpose of housing legislation to protect 

the rights of EEA citizens, and their family members, who have citizens’ rights pursuant to 

the Withdrawal Agreement. 

This will ensure that EEA citizens, and their family members, who   

  1) have acquired limited leave to enter and remain in the UK (also known as pre-

settled status) by virtue of Appendix EU of the Immigration Rules (“the EU 

Settlement Scheme”); or  

2) were frontier working in the UK prior to 31 December 2020. 

will continue to be treated as ‘persons not subject to immigration control’ in the instances 

where they would previously have been, so that their eligibility for the allocation of social 

housing can be judged on the basis of Regulation 4 of the Eligibility Regulations as was 

the case prior to 31 December 2020. 

(Allocation of accommodation: guidance for local housing authorities in England, June 

2012 last updated October 2023) 

 

 
 

Page 105



53  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 106



 

 

 

 

 
Cabinet report – 25 July 2024 
(Part 1 Public) 

PUBLIC PREVIEW:  

MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED LATER IN PRIVATE 
 

Cabinet Member(s)  As appropriate 

   

Cabinet Portfolio(s)  As appropriate 

   

Officer Contact(s)  Mark Braddock – Democratic Services 

   

Papers with report  None 

 

HEADLINES 
 

Summary 
 

 A report to Cabinet to provide maximum transparency to residents 
on the private matters to be considered later in Part 2 of the 
Cabinet meeting and agenda. 
 
This will enable Cabinet Members to openly discuss such matters 
generally in public, and via the Council’s live broadcast of the 
meeting, without prejudicing their later consideration in private. 
 

   

Putting our 
Residents First 
 
Delivering on the 
Council Strategy 
2022-2026 

 This report supports our ambition for residents / the Council of: 
An efficient, well-run, digital-enabled council working with partners 
to deliver services to improve the lives of all our residents 
 
This report supports our commitments to residents of: 
A Digital-Enabled, Modern, Well-Run Council 

   

Financial Cost  As set out in the report. 

   

Relevant Select 
Committee 

 As set out in this report under each item – however, this item is not 

for scrutiny call-in as it is information only. 

   

Ward(s)  As set out in the report 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
That Cabinet note the reports to be considered later in private and Part 2 of the Cabinet 
agenda and comment on them as appropriate for public information purposes. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 107

Agenda Item 8



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet report – 25 July 2024 
(Part 1 Public) 

Reasons for recommendation 
 
Why are certain reports considered in private? 
 
As a transparent, democratic organisation, the Council’s Cabinet will consider matters in public 
on Part 1 of this Cabinet agenda. However, there will inevitably be some reports that will need to 
be considered in private. These would generally relate to contracts, property transactions or 
commercially sensitive information, for example, tender bids from commercial organisations, 
which if made public, could prejudice the Council’s ability secure value-for-money for resident 
taxpayers. 
 
This information is also called ‘exempt’ information and is considered in Part 2 of any Cabinet 
agenda by applying the relevant section of the Part 1 of Schedule 12 (A) to the Local Government 
Act 1972 (as amended), in that the report contains certain information and that the public interest 
in withholding that information outweighs the public interest in disclosing it. 
 
How can the public find out more about the private reports? 
 
To ensure maximum transparency when the Cabinet considers such private reports: 
 

1) They are first given advance notice on the Cabinet’s Forward Plan in summary form setting 
out the reason why they will be considered in private. The Forward Plan is a public 
document setting out all the expected decisions the Cabinet will make over the coming 
year, except those that are urgent, and is available on the Council’s website to view; 

2) This report provides a fuller public preview of the matters to be discussed in Part 2 of this 
Cabinet meeting and gives an opportunity for Cabinet Members to highlight issues of 
significance within and for public information purposes, without prejudicing their later fuller 
consideration in private. It also sets out the recommendations in general terms that are 
being proposed for a decision on. 

3) Consideration of this report will also be broadcast live on the Council’s YouTube channel: 
Hillingdon London, and available for viewing afterwards, for wider democratic engagement. 

4) After these private reports are considered in Part 2 of this Cabinet meeting, Cabinet’s full 
decisions on them will then be published on the Council’s website the day after the Cabinet 
meeting, along with the decisions on the other matters already considered in public.  

 

Alternative options considered 
 
Cabinet could resolve to release any private report into the public domain in extraordinary or 
highly exceptional cases, where it considers the public interest in disclosing the information 
outweighs the public interest in withholding it. However, to ensure greater transparency on all 
private matters considered, this public preview item is advised as the most suitable way forward. 
 
Legal comments 
 
Such private matters are considered in accordance with Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) Access to Information provisions and also The Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. This report 
enables such matters to be discussed in public as far as is possible under the relevant legislation. 
 

Page 108

https://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/article/2501/See-upcoming-Cabinet-decisions


 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet report – 25 July 2024 
(Part 1 Public) 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

 

ITEM 9 – DISPOSAL OF BARRA HALL, BARRA HALL PARK, HAYES  
Relevant Cabinet Portfolio(s) Property, Highways and Transport 

Relevant Ward(s) Wood End 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Information 

 
This Cabinet report is regarding the proposed sale of Barra Hall in Hayes, a property previously 
used as a Children's Centre. The report proposes that the Barra Hall site be sold and used for 
educational purposes only in order to protect it as a listed asset. The recommendations will 
support the optimisation of the use of Council assets, the Council’s finances and importantly 
enhance the provision of SEND services within the Borough. 
 

 

ITEM 10 – AWARD OF CONTRACT: SHORT-TERM NURSING BEDS 

Relevant Cabinet Portfolio(s) Health and Social Care 

Relevant Ward(s) N/A 

Relevant Select Committee Health and Social Care 

Information 

 
This Cabinet report seeks approval for a contract for short-term nursing beds, funded by the 
Better Care Fund. It intends to support timely discharge from hospital for residents who 
require short-term support in a care home setting with nursing needs and fully aligns with joint 
health strategies and the need for bed supply. 
 

 

ITEM 11 – YIEWSLEY HOUSING DEVELOPMENT – OTTERFIELD ROAD 

AND FALLING LANE APPOINTMENT OF CONTRACTOR 
Relevant Cabinet Portfolio(s) Property, Highways and Transport 

Relevant Ward(s) Yiewsley 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Information 

 
This report seeks Cabinet authority to appoint a contractor for the redevelopment of the former 
Yiewsley Swimming Pool and site at Falling Lane into a mixed residential scheme. The proposal 
will enable the construction of a new library and 95 housing units, which aligns with the 
Council's strategy of providing good quality, affordable homes in connected communities and 
supporting thriving, healthy households. The redevelopment is expected to deliver significant 
off-site benefits to the community, such as a fully equipped Adventure Playground, family 
landscaped garden, an additional playground, improved parking amenities, and enhanced 
access works. The project aims to be carbon neutral and energy efficient. 
 
 

Page 109



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cabinet report – 25 July 2024 
(Part 1 Public) 

 

ITEM 12 – FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT FOR MINOR WORKS 
Relevant Cabinet Portfolio(s) Property, Highways and Transport 

Relevant Ward(s) N/A 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Information 

 
This report proposes a Framework Agreement for Minor Works to provide several key benefits 
for the Council. It aims to streamline the process of contracting maintenance and building 
works, which was previously done through lengthy individual tender exercises. The proposed 
framework agreement is designed to be flexible, with no direct costs to the Council for its 
creation, and individual call-offs will be subject to relevant approvals. It is expected to bring 
efficiency gains for procurement and the operational teams accessing the framework. 
 

 

ITEM 13 – DISPOSAL OF DISUSED CAR PARK ADJACENT TO WILLOW 
TREE MARINA YEADING 
Relevant Cabinet Portfolio(s) Property, Highways and Transport 

Relevant Ward(s) Yeading 

Relevant Select Committee Corporate Resources & Infrastructure 

Information 

 
This report relates to the proposed disposal of the disused car park adjacent to Willow Tree 
Marina. The report notes that the land has been disused since at least 2008 and is overgrown 
with vegetation, which means the Council can save on maintenance costs once disposed. 
 

 
 

 

Page 110



Document is Restricted

Page 111

Agenda Item 9STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 121

Agenda Item 10STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 127

Agenda Item 11STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 143

Agenda Item 12STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 161

Agenda Item 13STRICTLY NOT FOR PUBLICATION
Exempt information by virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended).



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the last Cabinet meeting
	5 Report from the former Property, Highways & Transport Select Committee - Road Safety Activities & Initiatives around Schools (Cllr Jonathan Bianco / Cllr Eddie Lavery)
	6 Social Housing Allocation Policy -  Consultation Draft (Cllr Eddie Lavery)
	Draft Social Housing Allocation Policy for consultation

	8 Public Preview of matters to be considered in private (All Cabinet Members)
	9 Disposal of Barra Hall, Wood End Green Road, Hayes (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)
	10 Award of contracts: short-term care home beds (Cllr Jane Palmer)
	11 Yiewsley Housing Development at Otterfield & Falling Lane - Main Contractor Appointment (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)
	12 Framework Agreement for Minor Works (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)
	13 Disposal of disused car park adjacent to Willowtree Marina, Yeading (Cllr Jonathan Bianco)

